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Please note that the following errors in the initiel Commission Report, delivered

o the Presidert on B Movember 2006, have been corrected in the mannar sct out

below: -
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The Commission regrets any inconvenience caused by the nesd to coffect the

aoove amendments.

4 December 2006
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Thie repart encompasses the investigation by the Commission ug until,
and including, 30 September 2006, |t elaborates upon and shoud be
read logether with the Commission Report, dated 17 June 2006 ("he

June Fepon”).

In the June Report the Commission set out certain allegations made by
the Independsnt Inquiry Committee (“the [C), and analysed these with
reference to documentation. relating to the following subjects of the

Commission's investigation wz.:

21 Contrasts involving purchases of cil by Montega Trading (Piy)
Lid {"Montegs™), Imvurme Management (Piy) Ltd ("lmvume) and

Omni Ol (Ot

57 the non-contractual beneficiaries of the these contracts wiz. Mr
Sandi Majali ("Mafal"y and Mr Shaker Al-khafaj (*Al-Khafaii)',

and

2.3  the szle of humanitarian goods by Falcon Trading Group Limited

(*Falcon’).

Mithout the exercise of its unchallenged powers to summons and

question the necessary witnesses, wiz. Majali vor  lchikowitz

i the dosurmertatics, Lhe fist name of &-Khata) s Snakir. This spelling is usad
bilon,

-



(*ichilowiiz"y, George Pocle {"Ponfe”), Rigz Javwoodeen ("Jawooosan']
and Mr Rodrney Hemphill {'Hemphil"y, or the inpul of br kgsiema
Motlanthe (“Moflamthe'y, the Commission will remain unable 1o
investigate and establish, with any evidential certainty, whether the four
entities and two persons aforementioned paid or offered to pay

surcharges or kickbacks®.

[4] The relevant terms of reference were therefore executed in an
attenuated form. Certain other terms of reference®, which flow from the
conciusion that such payments were in fact made or offered fo be paid,
may also be afected. Similar limitations apply to the investigation dealt
with in the present repor, except in relation to Ape Pumps {Ply) Ltd

{"Ape Pumps").

(5] This report 2nalyses the allegations made by the [IC in relation to:

5841  The contracting company, Mocoh Services South Africa (PLy)
Lid {"Mocoh"). and ite non-contractual beneficiary, Mr Michael
Hacking ("Hacking"], whom the [IC Repaort held responsible for
three surcharge payments into an account 2l Jordan Mational

Bank; and

5 Mr tiotlanthe s pertinently icenied in the wext of the G Report. and in the lakios

annexed herelo, as a winess to the alleged et acivides of Mzjal and Imvume

Commissioner Chauks has for some time bean addressing proposed input by &

Katlznthe, in the farr of 8n affidevid & mesting with W Molanthe's Counsel was

ararged  This was prevectad by the effuxion of 1he pericd within whish the
. Mommission was bourd to presert ds final report.

For Comveniemse—ict-osyremE T e u w pwon@ses of humanianian goods (2=

rpposed to surcharges o all sales) are refered ‘o 25 ickbacks,

Nedably the terms of reference 1150 (c]. and (d)

S

3
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[7.]

[&.]

52 the supplier companies, Apo Pumps, Glaxo Welicome SA
{South Africa) (Pty) Lid (" Glaxo Welicome") and Reyrolle Limited

(" Reayrols™).

Once again the conclugions that have been drawn in this report. rely
almost entirely on a study of documentation. largely hearsay. In the
case of Mocoh, a statement directed to the Commission by Mr Tokyo
Sexwale {"Sexwale”), is examined and analysed with reference 1o

documentation.

The study in this report gives rise to specific questions which ought to
be directed at the witnesses identified. Because of pending litigation
in the Pretoria High Court (*the pending litigation”} and time constraints,
this proved lo be impossible before 30 September 2006, As will
appear below, questions which were directed by the Commission in
writing to material witnesses have largely been avoided. |t is therefore
recommended that the Commission should be permitted to exercise its
powers, to summons and guestion witnesses under the Commissions
At 1947 (Act B of 1847) {"the Commissions Acf), subject to the
privilege against self-incrimination which is granted to witnesses by

section 3 of this act.

In Part F of the June Report, ihe Commission descriped how it had
been preventad from camying out its terms of reference by the pending
litigation, as well as by previously imposed time constrainls. Since that

tirne, the resourcas of the Commission have been taxed by exigencies

e



[4.]

[10.]

of ihe pending liigation and analyses of a plethora of documents, The
latter oocurred without the benefit of input from the authors of
docurments: as 8 result of the inability of the Commission to exercise

the aforementioned powers.

The Cammission was established by the President's Minute, signed on
3 February 2008. AL its inception the Commission was required 1o
report to the President by 17 May 2006°. On 31 May 2008, the
Commission was nolified of an extension of this period, until 17 June
2006. On & August 2006, the date was extended to 30 September
2006, pursuant to a President’s Minute. The duration af each extended
periad, from the time that nolice was given o the Commission til] it
ended. was insufficient to permit the timeous issue of summaonses o
necessary witnesses in terms of section 3 of the Commissions Act, as
well as to conduct hearings in order to receive oral evidence and

analyse the relevant evidence.

From 2 June 2006, the Commission was constrained to negoliate with
the lawyers of Hemphill, the applicant in the pending litigation. On 2
August 2006, it became apparent that he had no intertion of ever
ansswering questions put to him by the Commissien, whether or not the
questions and answers were affected by his application.  The
Commission was then constrained to focus its resources. until 18

August 2006, on the drafting of a comprehensive answering affidavit in

=

In terms of paragraph 2 of e terms of referenca published ina Schedule in e
Covemmerl Gezese Na. 2E528 on 17 Fabruary 2005



[11]

[12.]

order to assist the Courl, These facts and circumsiances are set out in

Part HE.

By agreement with the legal advisors of the President, while the
litigation was pending the Commission did hol use s coercive powers
under the Commissions Act: that is. o summaons wilnesses in order to
examine them under oath and to compel them to provide
documentation in their possession’. |Instead, the Commission engaged
in correspondence in order to obtain answers and documentation. This
process was lime consuming. Witnesses delayed in responding to tha
Commission's written requests, They produced only what they were
inclined to produce, and did =o in the form of their choice, Except in
the case of one compliant subject, it remains necessary for the
Commission to use s statutory powers in c:-n::lﬁr to deliver a
comprehensive report 1o the President, based on a conclusive
investigation of |IC allegations against South African companies and

individuals.

The one exception iz Ape Pumps, which responded punctiliously to the
Commission's summons to produce documentation, in spite of the
pending litigation. From the documents produced, the Commission
was able to conclude that Ape Pumps paid aftersales-service fees
("ASS5F) ta Iragi government institutions on two eontracts, in the

amounts of Euro 67, B94. 20, and Euro 3, 122 20, respectively, The

Far convenience that part of 1he enswernng afficavit which deals with e delay in
filirg the Commissan's answer Wz, pages 28 o 341 2= well as tha annexures
thereto are contaired in an &ddemdum to this repor.  Ses Document Moo 1 in
Adderndum 3.

Zee saction 2 af the Commissians Ack,

) o
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[14.]

[15.]

suscess of this exemise and the eaze with which the Cormmizsion's
objects were achievad in the investigation of Ape Pumps are testimony
to the effectiveness of the residual powers of the Commission which

are not subject to the pending litigation.

The report is divided into 8 parts before the conclusions of the
Commission are sel out,  Part A deals with the period under
investigation, as well as the aftitudes of the UN and the Iragi regime

toveards illicit payments at that time.

Part B is a statement of the principal exercises which the Commission
regards a5 necessary in order o conclude its mandate according to its
terms of reference. In the Commission's view, the implications of the
terrns of reference are such that further investigation remains
necessary. Part B also includes a deseription of certain technigues of
investigation into illicit payments which appeared as a resuft of the
meetings held between Counsel for the [IC and the Commission during

tarch 2006,

Part C explores further recommendations which have pecome
apparent since the June Report was presented to the President, a=
well az cerain considerations that affect the recommendations made
therein. These considarations were pracipitated by the useful input of

the Department of Minerals and Energy {"the DME™),
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[17.]

[18.]
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[20]

FPart [ deals with the invesiigation of whether or not surcharges ansing
from two oil contracis, in the amounts of US & 84, 831 and US § 480,
068 were paid by Mocoh, as slated in the Commission's iemme of

referenca,

In Part E, the allegations made by the G and its methodology in

relaiion to kickbacks, are set out.

In Parz F, G and H the Commizsion analyses cerain documentation
relating respectively to Ape Pumps, Reyrolle and Glaxo Wellcome; in
order to establish whether the kickbacks identified in the Commission's

tenns of reference were paid by these companies.

in Part |, the Commission deals with the approach it adopted towards
the pending litigation, The Commission requesied the Pretoria High
Court, s = matter of uraency, to authorize the Commission to exercise
powers to summons and gquestion Hemphill and other materdal
witnesses — if necessary without reguiring them to answer self
incriminating quastions. The object of this request has apparently been

defented,

The Commission's findings up to 30 Septermber 2008, are set aul in the
conclusion, together with certain recommendations. The President is
then formally reqguestsd to permil the Commission to file a furthar
report, 2t least 12 weeks after notice of such pemmission has been

commmunicated to the Commission. . The President is also requestad to

N 2 O



[21]

[22.]

[24.]

authorize he Comomissicn 1o age unchallenged slalutory powers fo
summeons and guestion witnesses during this perod, i.e. subject to ihe
right of each witness 1o refuse o answer questions on the grecund that

the answers may incriminate her ar him under South African law.

Such permission and authonty would sllow the Commission to
complete its investigation. In this twelve week period, the Commission
wolld seek to obtain the input of witnesses to the alleged achivities of
Glaxe Wellcome and Reyrolle, as well as material cooperation from

certain witneszes refered to in this report.

bisanwhile, it is respectfully suggested that any adverse findings made |
against subjects of the Commission’s enqguiry in this report and the
June Report, should be presented to the subjects in guestion for their
cormment before the findings are made public. This process would not
anly allow the Commissicn to benefit from the direct personal
rnowledge of each subject. but it would also prevent adverse, possibly
mistaken findings, from being made without the application of the sudf

aiteram parfem rule.

Without the application of the just administrative action provisions
refarred to in section 33 of the Constitution of the Republic of South
Adfrica, 1886, the adverse findings may prove to be unfair and
unconstitutional.  The procedure proposed is also consonant with the

ierms of reference. These imgly that the IIC made findings withouwt

o b



[24.]

[25.]

refererice to all bd wwo of the South Africen companies and individuaie

identified in the Annexure to the Schedule®,

The subjecte of the Commission's enquiry against whom adverse
findings are made include Majalk, Al-Khafzji, Hacking, Montega,
Imwurne, Mocoh, Omni, Ape Pumps and Falcon. Of these Al-Khataji
and Hacking reside beyond the jurisdiction of the Commission. Ompni

and Falcon are entibies that appear {o be controlled by Al-Khafa)i.

The Commission has made the following adverse findings agains:

Majali and the remaining companies, sl of whom are South African

Wz

251 Majali, representing Imwvume, probably offered to pay oil
surcharges owed by Montega, in a total amount of LS § 464,
0o,
252 i is nol improbable that an advance surcharge of US 5 60, 000

was paid for and on behalf of Imvume;

25.3 Hacking made two surcharge payments in Swiss France for and
on behalf of Mocoh in the amounts of CHF 424, 895 and CHF

B60, 630, respectively,

Zge Lhe fourh paragraph of the preambie ard paragrapk 67 of the June Repoil.

LT
5 o



[26.]

.I'\'

Bpe Pumps paid kichbecks in.lhe amounis of Euro 67 584,20

and Euro 3. 123

Cocumants referred to in this report, n the form of an addendunm
fAddendum Three) will be submitted in dug course. Exceptl in Paris ©
znd |, and the conclusian, certaln obeervations by and comments
of the Commission, &8 weil as Information intreduced en passant
by the Commission ere printes in bele.  Significant words and

phrazes have been underlined by the Cornmission for emphasis.




PART A

THE PERICD QOF ILLICIT ACTIVITIES AND ATTITUDES AT THE TIME

[1] With the passage of Resolution 681, the Security Coundil created a

special sanctions committee, the 661 Commitles, comprised of all

fifteen Council members in order to conduct ongaing oversight of the

Irag sanctions regime. Eventually the 661 Committes was entrusted

with “moniforing the implemenialion of the sanctions regime in ail ifs

aspacts” in conjunction with the "cooperafion of Member States and

[[E]

internaliona! organizalions™,

[2] The period during which illicit activities occurred was relatively

briaf. The tragic effecis of economic sanctions were catastrophic.

The contradictions within the "smar sanclions” created by

Resolution 286 werse confusing. For many UN member states,

humanitarian considerations and economice seemed to take

precadance over the strict application of international obligations.

Corporations acted accordingly.

[3] Resolution 986 was adopted in April 1885, Qil exports from Irag did

not begin until December 1998, The first humanitarian goods did not

arrive in that country until March 1987, The Programme was just under

paga 17 of 255
- o

Sae G Report Manegement of o Qil-Far-Focd Programme: Volurna |l - Ghapier 1,



[4.]

[5.]

[6-]

three years oid when the Iragi regime openly began to demand ilicit

payments from its customers™.

The Oil Overseers" expressed their concerns in this regard fo the
Secretariat of the UN' and to the Security Council.  Litlle action was
taken. The central conclusion of the [IC was that a failure in UM

oversight and management had occurred.

Mo doubt the insoiuciance of the Securty Gouencil had a trickle
down effect on corporate participants in the Programme and their
states of nationality. Certainly, the ezcrow bank (BRF), which was
in a position to have first hand knowledge, did not recognise or
carry cut it responsibility to inform the UN of illicit activity™.
Permanent Missions to tha UN contributed to the approval of
participation by thair national companies in the Frogramme. They

also toolk no action.

The sale of crude oil had to be monitored and approved by the G&1
Committee, However, the lragi Ministry of Oil and its marketing arm,

the State Oil Marketing Organisation {*SOMO") were given "significant

i
1

1

12

Sea |IC press release, dated 27 October 2005, or www lic-offp.ong.

The 861 Committee’s niles provided for il 10 select at least four indapandenl expers
in the nternational ail trade 10 act as averseers of oil transactons, o assist the GE1
Committes wiln its alvigatinn to ensure thal lrag 2old ol only &t fair market value ard
to gxamine contrects in arder o énsure that they comphad with the Pregramoes and
dil not sortain allempls of freud ar daception.

The UN Secretarist comprsces of the Secreenge-General and such slaff s the
Orgarisaton may neguire.

&5 %o the appointrert snd furclions of the escrow bank, see the June Repar
paragraphs [37.] ard [35.] at pages 27 to 28, Bangue Naticrale de Pans S.A was
appointed 10 1996 by tha Secretary-Gereral o serve as the escrow bank under the
Programme.  Procesds of the sale of lreqi of wers reguired e be placed with the
e=crow bank and were o be used sticty 10 provice for the human tarian roeeds of the
civiliarn popalzticn of Irag throush tha Frograrmes.

- 15 -
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[7.]

[2.]

leewa)y” in choosing thelr customers and the amount of oll to be sold to
each one.  In the eady auturmn of 2000, the Government of [rag
ardered that surcharges be imposed on every bamel of oil sold under
the Programme. The scheme was implemented by the Ministry of Oil
and SOMO. It lasted for over two years from the middle of Phase 8

through the middle of Phase 12.

The SOMO datshase maintained a running tally of surcharges
collected — organised by beneficiary and by contracting company. This
source of evidence was dealt with in the June Report.  Most
surcharges were paid through deposits to designated SOMO bank
accounts in Jordan and Lebanon, usually to Fransabank in Lebanon

and the Jordan National Banl,

The largest source of illicit income under the Programme accrued to
Iracy from “kickbacks™ paid on behalf of companies that it had selected
to receive contracts for humanitarian goods.  The kickback policy
began in mid 1998 with an unauthorised attempt to collect Irag's cosls
for transporting goods to inland destinations after their arrival by sea at
the port of Umm Quasr. It was easy o impose inland transportation

fees ("ITF") that far exceeded actual transportation costs,

During mid 2000, Irag instituted 2 broad policy of imposing 2 general
ten-percent kickback reguirement on all humanitarian contractors in
addition to the requirement for conlractors to pay ITF. ASSF wera

ncorporated  into contracts.  The confract prices were inflated

-



[4.]

[10.]

accordingly.  Contractors were able {0 pay Kickbacks to ths ragis

secretly and to recover the amount paid from the escrow account.

According to the [|C Report, the relevant period for the investigation of
gurcharges commenced in mid 2000, Inferences that kickbacks were
paid as a resuli of Iragi palicy can only be drawn from mid 2000, The
cut off pariod for the payment of kickbacks in the [IC Tables iz {1 July
2005, Documentation relating o the activities of Reyrolle shows that
the lragi Ministry of Health was demanding bribes from potential

cantractors during late 1988

The lIC found that many companies wers not prepared to openly pay
kickbacks, Instead they would make pavmenls to third paries or
agents without examining or admitting to the likely purpose of these
payments. Ape Pumps and Reyrolle documentation supports this
conclusion. The HC calculated that more than two thousand two
hundred companies wordwide paid kickbacks to Irag in the form of ITF

ar AsSF or both.



PART B

THE COMMISSION'S PRINCIPAL TERKS OF REFERENCE, THEIR

OBJECT AND IMPLICATIONS FOR THIS INVESTIGATION

1]

(2.1

[3.]

This part of the report deals firstly with the object of the
Commission's terms of referenca. Theraafter the principal terms
of reference are stated. The cbservaiions and comments of the

Commission ars printed in bold.

The object of the Commission's terms of reference s to advise the
Governrment of South Africa on the appropriate actich or steps o be
taken in relation to the alleged involvement of any identified South
African company or individual in illicit activities alleged by the ICY, and
the adoption of any preventative measures to avoid any such future
illicit activities, The proposal of measures aimad at praventing sanction
busting in the future by companies or persons falling under South
African jursdiction is pertinently exprezzed in the term of reference

numbered 101} (&)

To achieve these objectives the Commission musl invesligate and
determine whether surcharges on ol sales and kickbaoks were in fact
paid. or oflfered 1o he paid, by identified South Afcan companies or
individuals as set out in the Annexure to the Schedule which specities

the Commission s terrms of reference (Mihe Anmexure™).

i the final repc of ika 1S, publisked ar 27 Oclober 2008,
i



f4.]

[E]

In relation to proof of illicit payments the documentation in
possessien  of the Commission suffers  from svidential

inadeguacy.

Offers to make illicit payments can ba established from officlal
decuments. During the period of the Programme official
applications and contracts were processed by the Scuth African
Parmanent Mizsion tc the UN (“ire Mission”) and the UN’s Offica
for Irag Programme (“O/F°) which administered the Programme.
During 2003 certaln illicit payments (in the form of ASSF), were
removed from the sale prices of humanitarfan geods by formal
written amendment of the eriginal contracts, Thess amendments
tend to prove that originaily the payment of kickbacks was agreed
to by the iragis and the contractors in question. The amendments
do not prove that the kickbacks were paid, but suggest the
contrary. Evidentially they constitute proof of attempis by
contractors to make illicit payments. The amendmenis were
executed officlally and were made available to the Commigsicn by
the IIC {e.g. the amendment signed by Hemphill and identified in

tha June Repert”).

However, most of the documentary evidence of illicit activities
was unofficiel. This could best be sourced from the companies

and individuale under investigation i.e. through the exercise of the

See paregraph [20.], page 58 of Lhe Jure Report,

T



[7]

Commission’s powsrs {er the spectre of the exarcize of such

powars). These powers ware rendered nugatory in clreumsiancss

de=zcribed elsewhaers in this report.

The following documentary evidence was regarded as material by

the IIC and was requested by the Commission [or scught in other

ways), from the four subjects who are alleged in the Annexure to

have paid kickbachs in the form of ASSF or ITF.

il

s

Fitc

Side agreements in terms whereof the scller would agree o
pay ASSF andlor ITF directly to an lragi government
department or state controlled institution. (Five side
agresments Identified in the June Report” illustrate this

phenomenon in the case of Falcon.)

Tenders submitted by companies for the supply of
humanitarian goods that differed in price by approximately
ten percent from the selling price approved by the UN {i.e.

by the amount of ASSF).

Agreements cencluded by contractors with agenis who
were located cutzide of Sauth Africa. These agents dealt
directly with the Iragis [often to the exclusion of the saller),
in presenting the tenders, inflating selling prices to include

ASSF and ITF (in addition to agent's commissions), and in

ie

See foctnote 31 al page 57 of the June Reporl.
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7.4

7.6

7.7

7.8

facilitating pavment of kickbachs dirsctly in lragi bank
accounte. These agency agresments were sometimes
characterised by the abzence of & proper term specifying
the agent's commission or a basis for calculation of this

Commission.

Guarantees by the sellers or thelr banks, to the effect that

kickhacks would be paid.

Latiars of credit issued by the bank of the selier in favour of
the reloevani purchaser, usually an Iragl government
depariment or institulion. (The legitimate letters of credit
contemplated by the Programme were intanded to be

issied by the escrow bank in faveour of the =ellers).

Eank documentation indicating that lllegitimate guaranteas

or letters of credit referred to above were given effect to.

Bank records of the zellers which indicate the payment of

inflated commissions to agenis,

Cocumentation indlcating that after-azle=-garvice feas were
paid togather with the principal contract price: but well
before afier =ales service eithar became necessary or

desirable,



[5.]

[9].

[10.]

The abovementioned decumentztion cught to be cbtained from
the subjects of investipation by way of summons, in terms of

section 3 of the Commissions Act

In order for tha Commiszion io become properly informed of the
facts, =0 as ic enzble it fc determine the involvement of
companies or individuzals and recommend preventative measures
and systemns, It is essential for the Commizsion to interview
officials of the Mission who were involved in the Programmae.
Thay are Mr Andries Dormehl ("Darmen™), Mr Simon Cardy
{"Cardy”] and Mr Fadl WNacerodien (“Nacerodien™). The
Commission has had to spsculate about illicit activities with
reference only to documents. The content of these documents
suggest that Cardy (and Dormehl) were intimately involved in the
processing and execution of every contract under investigation by
the Commission, except for the Mosoh contracts. Since the Juns
Haport wae delivered, similar considerations have arizen in
ralation to officiale at the South African Mission In Jordan
(particularly Mr 5 Du Flessis), who were invoived in facilltating

humanitarian contraciz”.

The Department of Forelgn Affairs ["lhe DFA") waz informed of
the nature and scope of the propesed interviews'. The DFA did

commit itself to cooparation in this regard by 30 September 20086.

1
i@

Ses the section on Reyrolle balow,

Seg the lebers cxchanged bBotweon tho  Commission ard the Deparment
Crocament Mo, 2 in Addandum 3.



[11.]

[12.]

Whila th: docuwientation analysed in the June Report suggesis
that Majalilfientegallmyvume offered te pay the surcharges levied
on Montega Contract No. MIDWOE, and/or paid an advance of US §
60, 000 on the First Imvume Contract {as outlined in the
Annexure), Majali disputes these conclusions. Fer the purposes
of making the initial factual findings required by the terms of
reference, thess issues will not be disposed of until after Majali,
Ichikowitz, Pocle, Jawcodeen {and possibly Hemphill), have

provided the Commiszion with material information.

Motlanthe, similarly, appears to ba privy to Informaticn which is
material ¢ the resclution of these izsues. The Commission has
therofore been constralned toc =eesk his aseistance. The
information in guestion relates to Imvume/Majali‘'s attampt to pay
oil surcharges owed by Montega, from the procseds of two
Imvume confracts that were concluded as & result of Motlanthe's
alleded support. Allegadiy Motlanthe attended a mesting held on
10 Miay 2002, between Majali and Irag’s Deputy Prime Minizter, Mr
Tarig Aziz ("Aziz"}", where szetlemant ¢f the aforementicned
surcharge debts was proposed. The gquestions which require an

answer from Motlanthe, as well a3 the relevant document which

Sez the IC Repen ar Programme Maripulatior: Chepter Twe: Oil Transactans and
izt Payreents, page 113 of 623 Docurent Ne. 3 in Addendum 2. Sae ton 11G Table
3, pege 20 of 60 (Document Mo, 3 in Addendum 3}, which suggosls that the
instrecbon o awsrd Imyume Canfrect Mo, MM1T2 nvalvad & letter from Kgalema
kintlanthe, Secreiary General of the AMC. Bee too tha June Resar, paragraph [127 ]
al page 76, that deals with 8 etter addressed to Az1 by Motiartta, The Commiseaen
has sought 1o colain a capy of tis leter from the Embassy of lrag via the Departrert
of Foigign Affairs, & copy of the Commission's reguest s Document Mo, 4 in
Addendum 3 The DFEA has not repliee 1o the Commissicn's requsst far aszstance,

i k|
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[14.]

[15.]

tie may possess, have Coen weriifies in o corsespondence with

Hioilanitia’s sfiomey™.

in the June Report, tha Commiseion coneluded that Omni zZnd
Feleon were nelther compzeniez nor South Afrdcan. Difficulies of
jurisdictien and admissibility of evidence arige in the Investigation
of Omni, Al-Khafaji and Faleen. Theze would be overcome by the

oral testimony of Hamphill.

The positicn in ragard o the investigation of Mocoh, Reyrolle end
Glaxo Wellcome iz dealt with further below. Glaxe Weilcame has
avolded the attenticn of the Cemmission, both 2= 2 result of the

pending [itlgation and the effluxion of time.

Ey virlue of the gonclusion that the payment of surchargas and

kickbacks were not illegal in Scuth Africen law It [s apparent thet

' the Commizsion may legitimately rely on the powers to summons

and gquestion withesses, which zre vested by the Commissions
Act, subjact to the privilege against self-incrimination. The
exercise of thiz power would enable the Commission to reach

evidentially scund concluslons.

an A% Sepember 2008, M- 5 Hoosey of the atomey's fim. E Moosa, Waalaw ool
Pelersen (vna reprasent Matlarthe!, undertcok 1o rever; 1o the Sommission 25 soon
as thay rectived Instruction from ther olient Wi Hockey duly reverled and s
a meeting with Matlanthe's Coungel Advocate Seth Nthai, This mesting could not
eke place bebora 20 Beptember 2006, Correspanderce exchanged hetwesn Lhe
Comviszian and bMotlanthe a2 well 25 Ris represaniztves, farms Documend Mo, 5 n
Sodddendum 3.

.34 .



[16.]

[17.]

(18]

[19.]

The investigation, propoesed action and recommendations to remedy
conduct outlined in the terns of reference, appear o relate to two
classes of conduct wiz. offences on the one hand and illegal activity

which contravenss any other Soulh African law on the other™.

Because of time constraints, the Commizsion has not yet
investigated each and every source of existing legal regulation,
not amounting fo an effence, which may have been viclated by the

payment of surcharges or kickbacks.

Before the Commizzion can advise on praventative measures in
the future, it becomes necessary to astablish and analyse all the
material facts related to past "illicit aclivitias”. iLe. whether or not
the conclusion is reached that a particular sublect of this
investigation participatad in or confributed te an liclt activity
illegally or in bad faith. As stated In the June Report the illicit
activities under investigation Involved a muliiplicity of
participanis between the actual buyers and =ellers whe concluded
tha coniracts listed in the Commission’s terme of reference.

Some of the partlcipants may have zcted in good faith™,

As a “first step™ in the investigstion. all evidence and infermation
abtained and assessed by the IC which related 1o payments by South

African companies or individuals, had to be accessed and analysed.

Sae e term of referenos numbsead 5 00 (G
See Juns Report, pargoraphz 21 713,21 14 anc 27,18,

L



[20.]

[21.]

[221]

The relevent payments are identified in the |IC Tables that aosompary

the IC Repert and are repeated in the Annexure,

An analysis of certain documentation provided to it by the [IC has
been carried out by the Commission. However, the IIC has
refused to furnish the Commission with certain evidenca s.g.
coples of recordings and transcripts of statements mads by South
African individuals such as Majall and Hemphill. The G may have
also failed to provide the Commission with further information

coniemplated by the abovementicned “first step”.

Alzo relevant to the investigation were the records of Alia
Transport [“Ajia"}, an agent of the lragi regime. Thie agency
collected illicit payments due by contractors under the guise of
being a legitimate carrler of humanitarian goods. Some of Alia's
records were provided to the Commissien by the G, As will
appear below, when conclusions are sought to be drawn In
relation te Glaxo and Falcon. fzcunae in the Alia records become

apparent

Some conclusions reached by the Commission on the basis of
information provided to it by the lIC, differ from thosa reachad by
the lIC in the IC Tables, Resolving this conflict iz complicated,
because the IC has affectively been dissolved. The Commission
wolild therefors seek tc debate the meajor differences with Rr

Brian Mich {(“Mick™), Counsel for the NG, He rafzing both the

S



23]

24

[25.]

necessary authorily fo debats the di¥fersnces, as well a5 any dala

that may have given rise to them.

Should the Commission conclude that surcharges or illicit payments
were in fact paid or offered to be paid by the listed companies or
individuals, the Commission is bound o repori and to make
recommerndations as o whether or not such conduct falls within the
jurisdiction of a South African court: and if so, whether any condust as

autlined in the Anrexurs amounts to the commission of an offence

which may be tried by a South African court.  Furthermare, whether
there is sufficient and admissible evidence to provide a reasonable
prospect of success in any prosecution which may follow. In the case
af the commission of an offance, or other illegal, illicit or irreguiar

activity action or steps to be taken, must be proposed.

Finally, any further proposed actions or steps to be taken to prevent
sanction busting in the future by companies or persons falling under
South Afnican jurisdiction, are required to be investigated and reported

an, and recommendations madea,

in the June Report™, the Commission concluded that certaln
paymente of surcharges {by Mocoh and Cmni) and the offer to
make payments of surcharges {by WalaliMontega/lmvume), were
supported by the documentation analysed therein. Similarly, the

Cemmission concluded that Falcon had agreed fo pay ASSF and

See paragraph [48.] at page 36 of the June Repon
27



[26.]

[27.]

[28.]

ITF. A& further corciusion reached was that these payments did
not constitute offences which may bs tried by a South African
court. The primary reason for this conclusion was that no
lagislation currently exists in South Africa that hinds incividuals
to obey Security Council resolutions made under Chapter Yl of

the UM Charter.

in spite of thiz conclusion, the course of “fhe conduet” of certain
companies or individuals outlined in the Annexure {as well as the
documantad conduct of Hemphill, could fall within the
jurisdiction of a South African court, and may be tried: in that it ie
shown to have heen associated with and part of other actvity thal

was unlawful.

The conduct in question Involved tha conclusion of identified
contracts by individuals on behalf of identified antities. Contracts
arose after applications to participate in the Programme, and each
contract had been approved by the 661 Committee established by
the Security Council. The applications and contracts wore
processed through the Mission. The process involved making
representations to the Mission and the UN to the effect that the

applicant entity was a South African company.

Hemphill misled the Mission and the OIF into believing that Gmni

and Faleon were South African companies,

_TE .



[29.]

[30.]

[31.]

Every contracior recorded scknowledgement of the izet that
Fesclutions 661 and 986, as well a= the Memorandum of
Understanding between the UN and Iraq (“fhe MOUF), wera
applicable to the transaction= subject to approval by the UN.
Applicants can be deemed to have been aware that UN sanctions
prohibited direct payments to the Iragis and that this principle

underlay the Programme and bound South Africa.

Froof of the offence of fraud would require evidence that the
reprasentors such as MajalifMontegalimyume (and Hemphill on

behalf of Omni and Falcon):

a} krnow that the surcharges and kickbacks licted in the
Annexure would have to be paid at the fime when they
relied on the Miszion to deal with the UN in facilitating their

cantracts;

1]} naveriheless represanted to the Mission that they intendead
ic comply with the MOU, as well as the provisionz of

Rezolutions 661 and $86; and

c} intended to make illick payments te the Iragiz.

The relsvent documentation which the Mission processed seems
to contain acknowledgements by subjects of this enguiry, to the

effect that Resoclutions 661 and 988 and the MOU wers appliczble.

-



[32.] Majalifimyume may have perpetrated ansther frand on the

[33.]

Republic of South Africz, i.e. by knowingly selling oil tainted by
surcharges to a state confrolled institution wiz. the Strategic Fuel
Fund (“the SFF’}, without making the necessary material
disclosurs that the oil salez in questicn involved the payment of
surcharges. The SFF fell under the auspices of the DWE which
was bound to uphold Security Council resolutions. The Republic
of South Africa therefore suffered prejudice or potential prejudice

a= a result of this non-disclosure.

Te the extent that the conduct referred to in the previous five
paragraphs is not specifically cutlined in the Annexure, It is so
closely connected thereto that, In view of the Commission, it
stande to be deall with under the term of reference which reguires
the Commission to propose further action or =teps to be taken o
prevent companies or persons falling under South African
jurisdiction from getling involved in future illegal, illicit or
irregular international activities, or to propose the establishment
of systems and mechanisma, so as to enture that such
companiss and perzons do not, in future, contravene binding Uk
razolutions™. As will appear below, the leadership rele of the DKE

may have to be addressed in this regard

Hea the term of referance numbered 14i) (2],
-3 -



SUPPLEMENTARY RECOMMENDATIONS ARISING FROM

INVESTIGATION AFTER JUNE REPORT

[1]

[2.]

3]

In Part D of the June Report™, the Commission raised six possible
recommendations.  Those recommendations are now  endorsed,
amplified, and commented upon in the light of further investigation as
well 2= the inpul made by the DME. The Cormmission is indebied to
the DME and particularly to Advocate Sandile Nogxina, the Director-

General of the DME (“Advocate Mogxina®), for their contribution.

In the June Report the Commission made two distinclions:

2.4 Firstly, belween sanctions proper and the ameliorated sanctions

imposed under the Programme; and

22  secondly, hetween criminal measures and regulatory measures

intended to prevent sanction busting.

Sanctions proper had to be enforced by South Africa in terms of the

provisions of Reselution 651, A primary purpose of this resolution was

to impose an obligation on member states, including South Africa. their

nationals _and persons within their terriiories from making funds

available to the lreai Government and its institutions. Responsibility

See paraoraph (60.] of he June Repart.

-] -



[4.]

rested upon the states to control the individual Mo ‘edal chligation

rested upon the individual,

Ameliorated sanctions were deterrnined by Resolution 9868 and the

MO, Their obiect was to provide for the humanitarian needs of the

lragi people, and still achieve the aforementioned primary_punpose,

Two mischiefs appedred. The first. which is the one under

investigation, was the corruption of contractors (and UN officials). The

abligation of member siales.

REGULATION BY THE 5TATE

[5.]

[E.]

It is the responsibility of the National Executive to impose a coberent

8

system This regime shoulkd not only achieve the purpose of
sanctions proper, but also provide for the humanitarian and economic

activity authorised by Security Council resclution.

Though the Republic, as & member of the UM, is bound under
international law to prevent sanction busting® perpetrated from within
itz territory, the duty of prevention may not inevitably extend to

unqualified criminalisation thereof. What is required is a system which

Compare Section &5 of the Congtitution particularly subsections (2 (b, (o) and d}.
goutk Affices ratifed the Undsd Mations Conventlon Against Coomuption on 22
Mowvember 2004, ard 2 tnesefore alzo bound, an en intemational plara, o preven:
Corrupticn

”
B |



[£.]

(6]

5]

will be effective in preveniing sanciion pusting, Including  diract

payrens lo a regime uncer sanction.

Criminalization, which iz intended to deter polential offenders =nd
impose retricution on proven  offenders, would not constitute =
preventative measure if it did not prove to be preventive in effect, o

could not be implemented for other reasons,  Praclical regulation by

the public administration with unambiguous direction frorm the Mational

Executive is the primary recommendation of the Commission,  This

prevertion of recurrences.

The state's obligalions under international law may be metl by
canvincing slate depanments, and state owned institutions and
corporations, that a legal duty to prevent sancticn busiing rests upon
South Africa, and by promulgating suitable regulations which officials
employed by such depariments would be bound to implement. The
regulations should be aimed not only at preventing sanction busting,
but slso at the efective administration of any programme which
ameliorates  hardship inflicked upon foreign civilians by eccnomic

sanciions.

It is apparent from the affidavit of Advocate Nogxing that, during

September 2001, the DME did not act with an overriding appreciation

Inshe marner suggesied in sub paragraph 607 2f the June Repar.

- 33 -



(10,

[11.]

[12.]

FE]

]

pavment of surcharges by South Afncan compenies. The dominant

considerstion reflected in Advocate Mogxing's memorandum o Lhe
Idinister™, in relation lo Iragi surcharge demands at the tirme, appears
o have been that surcharges created an economic barrier for South

Amcan companies wishing to enter the international oil markel.

What was highlighted in the affidavit of Advocate Nogxina was the
tragic effect of sanctions on lragi civilians and the consequential palicy
considerations for South Africa during the Programme, These factors
legitimately affected the approach of the DME at the time. They were

and remain relevant. However, the importance of infernational law, as

law, alse requires emphasis by the state. The individual within South

Africa is entilled to unambiguous direction from both the law ang the

administration in regard to her or his legal dulies.

Any domestic measures which are taken in order to comply with
Chapter VIl Resclutions will remain subject o the Constitution, its

values and the principle of legality.

The content of Advocate Nogana's affidavit vividly illustrates that at

any parficular fime the implementation of economic sanctions might

appear to corfiict with the values enshrined in the Bil of Rights™ This

Tha purpose-ard sariant of the mamcrancum, deted 7 Sepiember 2001, are sef oyt

in paragrapt [198 1af the June Repar. & pafe 03

However. by virtue ef the provisicre ol Section 38 of the Constiution [znd subjrct (o

whal 15 set oul in the Tablz ef Nen-Dercgasle Rigate), rights i she B of Rights, may

be limitec. Furtherrore, Section 233 of the Constitution provides that every caurt,

wher interprating any legisiation, must prefer aty reasonable imerprataticn of the
S



[13.]

could arise, firstly, because of the political nature of international legal
obligation which is generated wviz the Security Council as currently
constituted, Secondly, and not unrelated fo the first reason, is the tact

that at any particular time and given the ham caused o civilians in the

state under sanction, a particular Security Council resolution may

contradict the commitment of the Peoples of the United Mations to

fundamental hurman rghts. [t may also tend to negate conditicns undes

which justice and respect for obligations arising from sources of

international law, such as the Charfer, can be maintained. These

Africa’s membership of the United Mations. _In such circumstances it

could be argued that members of the UN are net bound to carty out &

decision of the Security Council because it is not “in accordance with

iha Charter” as required by Adicle 25 thereof.

Similar contradictions in international law have pertinently been raised
by Sachs J in a judgement of the Constitutional Court.  "What was
fegarded as (international) law just yeslerday is condemned &5 unjust
today. When the Universal Declarsfion was sdopted, ::;:rh:un.ia.f.imn girid
racial discritninalion were seen as nafural phenomens embodied in the
taws of the so-called civifised nations and blessed by as many religious

leadars as they were denounced™,

i

legislation thal s consistent with imematicnal law,  Intarationz| sznctiaps urde:
Chapter Vil of tre LN Charer may arguably conetitute & justfed festriction on the
rights 2ct out in Chapter 2. As to the protection of human rights violstions Leyend the
barders oF Gouth Affica, see Kaunda and Others v President af the Repuklic of Sauts
Aldca, 2008(4) 54 235 GO,

Fer SACHS J in Mirister of Hora Affsis v Foure Lesbian and Gay Equality Project
N WInlster af Harme Affairs 2006[1) 548 524 CO 3t paragraph [102 | page 548

R g



[14]

MNevertheless, whatever perception of Resolutions 851 and 986 ma
PRI _2on may

have existed within member states of the UN, it remained the obligation

of members to prevent their nationals and any persons within their

lerritaries from making funds or resources available to the government

af liag™,

In the circumslances, it is useful to repeat certain staterments made by
Advocate Mogxina. He made his statemant to the Commission after he
had consulted with officials of the DFA, He had also studied various
government policy documents on lrag at the fime and the relevant
resolutions of the Security Council. He relayed cerain information,
concerning the humanitarian crisis in Iraq and South Africa’s peliey at

the time, 1o the Commission.

12, Banctions and humapiianian £risis

12,1 Sanctions created a humanitadan crszis in Irag, During 2000
the birth mortality rafos in Iraq were amongst the highest in the
wortd,  In fact birth weight affected &l least 23% of all births,
Chronic malmulnfion affected every fourth child undsr five vears
af age. Only 41% of the population had access to clean walay,

83% of all schools needed substantial repair.

122 Sanclions also had negatively impacfed on the lrag exlended

faimily system. There was an increase i single parent family,

See Clause 4 of Hesalution 631 (1950
HEgrs



(18]

13.

i4.

divarces, and families were  forced lo sell their homes and
frmiture and other possessions fo put food an the lable resulfing
in  homelessness. Prosfitufion  was alse  reporied (&

phenomenon Wiknown in fracg).

Infernational oufcry

As a result of varous reporfs of the humanitanan crisis iy lrag,
national and intermafional oufcry aboul sanctions grew.  South
Africa also added jis voice., As a result of the mobiisation by
rrany countries, the Security Counci! adopted resolution 208 of
2000 which mandated i to explore every svenue o alleviale the
sufferings of the populahion, who were after all nof the infended

fargeis of sanchons.

Humarnifarian fighl

The South African government decided o send a humanifarian
flight fo frag. The Department of Foreign Affalrs was the lead fo

department in arganising this fighl” (gle)

Advocate Nogxina also endorsed certain findings that had been made

in a report by the Office of the Public Protector™ on 29 July 2008,

The Ofice of the Public Prolactar invesligatad @ complaint made by ihe Freedom
Front ircconnaction wih an advance paymert of R 18 million tal was mace oy Petro
5o ta Imwume in Decembar 20C5. This relaced o & cortrest for procurament of o
condensale.

o
= onf -



pursuant to the input of Advoca?e Mogxina. These findings are guated

in part below:

"18.2.1 The Public Profector reporiad as fallows:

‘During the perod 10 to T4 June 2001, the former Minister of
Fublic Enferpnses, Mr J Radebe, Jed a follow-up hurmanitarian
fight o Irag, sccompanied by the Depuly Minister of Foralgn
Affairs, government officials and & business oelegalion. The
puipose of ihis visit was o provide assistance fo the people of
frag i fhe light of the cafasfrophic humanitanan situation thal
prevalled a5 & resuli of the imposition of sanctions and fo
gxplore frade relations under the UN irsg O For Food

Programime;

18.2.2 I was against the Dackground as set ouf above thal he

18T

18.2

appraachad the MWinister of Minerals and Energy to approve a
vigif fo Irag by himself, Mr A MNkuhle (Director:  Mimsterial
Services), and Mr T Mafoko (of the Infernational Lialson sechion)

for the period 10 to 74 Septembey 2001."

“South Aftica’s foreign policy towards lrag in 2001 provided For
the sfrengthening of frade relafions befvween the fwo counfnias,

inciuding trade in the ol indusiry;



8.3 The visit by the Director General of Minerals snd Energy and
officiale of the depariment and the SFF fo lrag, Ja September
2001, relsted direclly fo he Govemments expressed
comiriiment lo improve ifrade relalions with frag.  The then
Ministar of Minersls and energy was properly informed of fhe

limtention of fhe visil and she approved it accordingly;”
[17.] Advocate Noguina deall with the purpose of his visit to Irag as follows:

20 | musl emphasise that my visit lo Irag, first was informed by the
govertnent policy on frag and secondly, t will be seen fram a
mumber of the nehfutions referred to above, that | head the DIME
veahich contribules significantly in the economy of this couniry.
Furthermare, the DME has been in the forcfront in promaoting

back empowerrnent. Indeed it is the first depariment lo legislate

ort black empowerment.”

[18.] The affidavit of Advocate Nogxina was solicited by the Commission

with a view to exploring his justification to the Winister for the visit to

Irag by cfficials of the DME during September 2001, This justification

included the imposition of cil surcharges on ‘Black Ecenomic

cmpawsrment Groups” which had to be addressed, (For convenience

these groups are referred to below as BEE companies.)

39 -



[20]

[£1.]

[

1he recoras Of tne UM, as well s the affidavii of Advocate Nogxina

ale characterised by a singular lzck of clegr reference to the legal issue

created for South Africa by the imposilion of oil surcharges on its

nationals, of 1o how this problem was being addressed by the DME™,

Following an eborted visit to Irag™ during September 2001, one would
have expected concern to be expressed and recordad, to the effect
thal South Africa was being exposed to potertial violations of
Resolutions 881 and 886 as a result of the imposition of surcharges on
BEE companies that were recelving allocations of ail. Cerainly, by 14

May 2001. Cardy and Macerodien, officials at the Mission in New York

bad become alarmed and had reporea to Ambassader Kumalo *fhal

the Govemment should not be seen to be supportive of illsaal trade

veitfi frag™,

The DME delegation had met informally with the Iragi Deputy Minigter
of Gil. Mo minutes were kept. The Depuly Minister had infarmed ihe
delegation that the Government to Government Qi For Food

Fragramme deadline had passed.

See Document Mo G in Adcandum 3, whizh 2 made up of cormezponderce hetween
the Commizsion and ihe OME  The Commissicn sought te abtan any documentation
in the ncasession of the DME, relzled 1o the imposition of surcharges thal Was
crealed before. during ard afer 1ne Septembsar visit

The DME delegalior amived in Baghcad or 11 Szpfember 2001 Iregi geverament
elficials were “inundaled with cther aclinties folowing the 847 avenis’.

See Juns Reporl, paragraphs 182 & 1o [193) at pages 104 o 107,

Y



[22.]

[23.]

[24.]

[2%5.]

the DME was therefors renderad unable to regulate and conlrol the

Rl P Ry

government to govemment contract™.

In the circumstances, # must have seemed inevilable that South

African BEE companies would be allocated barrels of oil, that

surcharges would be levied by S0OMO on the bamels litted, and that the

contracting BEE companies weuld be bound to pay the surcharges.

According fo the IC Reporl, the Iragis tolerated no exclusions from
their surcharge policy. The largest proporion of ol allocated to
contractors under the Programme went to Russian corporations.
Russia, as a permanent member of the Secwity Council, was
powerfully placed to assist Irag, infar alia, by supporting the lifting of
sanctions.  Ruseian nationals were not excused from surchare

demands. There is no evidence to suggest that, durng or about

September 2001, BEE companies were better placed than Russian

corporations were to avoid the payment of surcharges.

The effect of administrative insouciance, in relation to intemational
obligations such as those imposed by Resolutions 681 and 986 on
South Africa, ought to be addressed by the National Executive in the

future in relation to =imilar resalutionz.

See.ung Repor, paagraph 42 (o) 8t page 37,
sdh] =



STATE CONTRACTS

[<6.]

[27.]

[2B.]

AL

— st

On & March 2002, Imvume confracted with the Strategic Fuel Fund
("the 5FF) to supply oil that would be allocated to Imvume by the
iragis. Proceeds of the sale by Imvume to the SFF were, in all
likelihood, calculated to have been used to pay surcharges owed by
Montega®, Thesze circumstances suggest that measures should be
taken to prevent relevant material non-disclosure by contractors with

the state in the future.

During the operation of economic sanctions, contractors with the state

of with state instilutions should be required;

a) io disclose whether any commedity or goods, intended to be

supplied to the state or a state institution. emanate from a

country under sanction; and if so,

k) to warrant that the =supplier has complied with all relevant

secutity Council resolutions, UN agreements and reemoranda of

understanding that may be applicable to the acquisttion of the

commodity in auestion.

aimilarly. where commodities or goods are supplied to a regime under

sanction, the South African Government depardment liconcing

See e case against Majalic June Repor, paragraphs [197.] 1o 126 ] &t peges 71 e
Td



participaticn in the UN-Proearamme™ should require an undertaking thal

no bribes have been paid or stand to be paid to the regime by the

contracior,

SPECIFIC REGULATION SUGGESTED AFTER AMNALYSIS OF

DOCUMENTATION PROVIDED BY APE PUMFES

[29.]

[30.]

The only insight which the Commission has enjoyed into the precise
modus aperandi employed by contractors in the payment of ASSF
arises from the punctilious provision of docomentation by Ape Pumps
in response to the Commission's summens. This is dealt with ih Part E
below, The supplermentary recommendations which follow  are

necessary to curb the provision of funding: -
a) by banks in South Africa to states under sanction, or to the
Government departments of such states and the institubions they

cantral; and

by to the foreign agents of contractors who pay kickbacks, eithar

directly or indirectly, to a regime under sanction,

Firstly. it is recommended™ that banking legislation and/or regulation

sheuld be created which spontansously prohibits the provision of

gquarantees and the making of direct payments 1o governments under

41

A o guch licencing, see June Report, paragrash 602, page 42,
In 2mpification cof suo-peragrapa 0.5 of the June Reporn.
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[31.]

[32.]

sanetion (and government controlled institutions), as soon as they ae

placed under such economic sancticn by Sscurity Council resolutians.

Secondly, where UN managed programmes exist for the amelioration

of economic sanctions, banks should be required o ensure that

international payments to agents and/or foreign instifutions, in respect

of transactions affected by such programmes, are authorised by

Security Council resolution. To this end, the Reserve Bank, in

overseeing payments of foreign currency. should be required to cedify

international financial transactions with reference to such resolutions

and authertic written agency agreements which expressly provide for

the payment of commissions, as well as legitimate formulas for

The abovemeniioned banking legislation andfor regulation should

contain a further provision: 1o the effect that any contract’agreement

which_permits an agent fo receive an indeterminate or excessive

commission for facilifating the involvement of a South African

contractar in @ UN sanctions programme should be deermed ta involve

an illicil payment.

SPECIFIC REGULATION RAISED BY MOCOH/HACKING'S CONDUCT

[33.]

lt would zppear that, like Al-Khafaji, Hacking exploited the favoured
status of South Africa. in order to obtain oil allocations. Unlike them he

managed to deal directly with the UM, He did not deal with the LN



through the Mission.  Ullimately the responsibility for the payment of

surcharges for and on behalf of Mocoh was aftributed to Scuth Africa,

on the basis that the Mission had processed the contracts which had

becomes tanted by the surcharge payments. In the circumstances, and

if these conclusions are shown to be correct, it will become necessary

to pass legislation requiting any South African company which intends

to paticipate in sanclions programmes of the UM, or which in fact does

participate, to do so only under the supervisich of an appropriate South

African department of state after licencing as above. In the view of the

Commizgsion, such legislation would not involve state intedference in the
so called "free market”, because UN sanclions programmes are nol
free. They impose legal obligations on member states to implement

regulation.

THE REMEDY FOR CORRUPTION

[34.]

The essential mischief which aroze under the Programme was the illicit
payment of surcharges and kickbacks to the lragis. These direct
payments to the Iragi Government and the institutions it controlled
viclaled the express terms of Clause 4 of Reszolution 661, a5 well as
the purpose of sanctions wz, 1o weaken Irag's capacity to wage war.

The payments defeated the purpose of Resolution 886 {wz. to provide

for_the humanitanian needs of the Iragi people), in that they deprived

civillans, who had suffered from both war and sanctions, of the

proceeds of the escrow account.  Instead. the proceeds of oil sales

that were intended for the victims described by Advocate Nogxing,

_ 45 .



[35.]

[36.]

[37.]

were corruptly diveried o cerain conliactors and e regime. The

mischief was made possible by corruption on the part of contractars

andfor their agents. They acted in 8 conspiracy with the lragi regime.

WWith the amendments suggested below, the Prevention and Combating
Corrupt Activities Act, 2004 (Act 12 of 2004) ("the Corruphion Acf",
parficularly sections 3, to 6 12 and 13 thereof, could operate to

eriminalise such comuption in the future,

The Corruption Act came into operation on 27 April 2004, It therefore

cannot be applied to prosecute corrupt activities during the period of

the Programme under investigation.

Section 35 of the Corruption Act vests a South African court with
extraterritorial jurisdiction, if the act alleged occurred outside the
Republic, and regardless of whether or not the acl conslitutes an
offence atl the place of its commission. Jurisdiction exists if the person

io be charged —

{a} is acitizen of the Republic,

(b} is ordinarity resident in the Republic;

{c) was arrested in the lerritory of the Republic, or in its territorial

waters or on board a ship or aircrafl registered or required to be



[38.]

[39.]

reiistered in the Republic al the {ime. the offence was

committad:

(d)  is a company, incorporated or registered as such under any law,

in the Republic; and

(€}  (is} any body of persons, corporate or unincorporated, in the

Republic.

As this act stands. the aforementioned sections seem to apply to

corruption on the part of natural and legal persons, but not where this

oecurs in collusion with sovergign slates that are also perpelrators and

beneficiaries. An approprate amendment may be necessary to deal

with comuption of the kind that occurred under the Programme.

Section 3 creates a general offence of corruption relating to the acte of
“any person’.  Section 4 creates an offence in respect of corupt
activities relating to public officers for the benefit of the public officer or
any other person. Section 5 creates offencesz in respect of corrupt
activities relating to foreign public officials. Official is defined
essentially with reference to a natural person in employment.  Section
3 criminalises & person in relation fo a benefil for a foreign public
official or ancther person. Section & creates offences in respect of
comrupt activities relating to agents for the benefit of another person.
section 12 creates an offence in respect of corrupt activities relating to

contracts involving persons. Section 13, similarly crestes offences in

- 47



[40.]

[41.]

[42.]

respecl of corrupt activities ralating 0 procurement end withdrawal of

tenders.

Ferson iz not defined in the definiton section of the Comuplion Act,
The meaning excludes soversign states, not least of all, because a
stale cannot be prosecuted under South African domestic law, A
presumption against criminalizing corrupl activities in collusion with
state perpetrators may be applied when these sections are interpratad

by a court. Therefore, the Commission recommends that an

amandment o the Corruption Act should be effected so as to make

provigion for conviction on a charge of corruption when a2 soversign

state is found to be a beneficiary in the application of sections 3 to 6,

12 and 13.

The adoption of an additional Protocol to the UM Convention Against
Corruption, that would make provision for the criminalising of comrupt
activities by sovereign states and trial by international tribunal, could
appropriately be lobbied for while Scuth Africa i a non-permanent

membper of the Security Council.

Further recommendations. over and above those zlready made, may

glill be required after the full and proper investigation described

alsewhere in this report has taken place.

_ 4%



HACKING AND MOCOH

]

[2.]

[3.]

d1
42

The relevant 1C findings in Tables 1 to 5 as well as certain inferences
to be drawn against Mocoh and Hacking from 1IC documentation were
sel aut in the June Report”’. The Commission is in possession of NG
documents relating to five contracts concluded between Mocoh and
SOMO. Hacking represented Mocoh in the conclusion of every one of

them. Hacking is resident in the United Kingdom.

Within the Commission's jurisdiction, the material witness, in relation to
bath Hacking and Mocoh, is Sexwale. A written statement (" Sexwale’s
response”) was presentsd to the Commission on his behalf by his legal
represantatives, Werksmans Attorneys {"lWorksmans™). It was received
on 15 June 2006, while the June Report was being finalised. This
statement was a response to written guestions which had been

directed to Sexwale by the Commission on 24 May 2008.

At all fimes Sexwale has publicly expressed a willingness o assist in
the investigation of illicit activities. On 25 March 2004, he wrote to the
Secretary-General of the UN, Kofi Annan on the letierhesd of
Mvelaphanda Holdings {Phy) Lid (“Wfvelaphands™™. He stated inter
alis. the following: "As yvowr office is aware owr company Moscoh

Services (South Africal has. il recently traded Basrah Light Oil fram

See paragraph [4£. ] of the June Repart,
see Documrent Mo ¥ in Acdenduarn 3.

- 4%



[4.]

[5.]

[.]

lrag uhder the auspices of tha Unifed Malions Special Commiltes sz
sef out in Resciution 861 — Off For Food Programime”.  Sexwale also
stated that, "For the record our cornpany is more than willing o assist
the United Nations showld 7t be required”. In hiz response, Sexwale
indicates that the IIC did nol request & response to the allegations

made against hiz company by the 11T,

The Commission considers Sexwale's response lo suffer from
avidential and probative deficiency. His response was neither made
uncler oath nor sidned by him. However, it does reveal errors in the 11T

Tables. These dre deall with furlher below.

For purposes of the June Report, the Commission remarked that
participation in the Programme by South African entities was

charactensed by “compeling indications of exploiiation by foreign

entrapranaurs,.”. In the case of Mocoh, the documentary evidencs,

Boxwale’s response and an absence of Miszion records, point in

thi= direction.

In the circumstances the Commission soughl to interview Hacking,
Foliowing & lengthy telephonic conversation, on 30 August 2008,
between the Chairperson and Hacking's solicitor in London, Mr David
Corker ("Corker™) of the firm Corker Binning, the Comimission directed
an e-mail to Corker on 9 September 2006, Therein a telephonic
request for a consultation with Hacking, either in South Africa or in the

Linited Kingdom, was repeated. Corker replied via e-mail, stating that

|



[7.]

8]

[£.]

the telephonic conversation had " given nse fooa humbaer of issuos

=

requinng carefll consigerafion .7 He requested lime to respond until
14 September 2008, and added that this request was not ... 5 sign of
rion cooperation on (Corker's) or Mr Hacking’s parf’, Up to this time
and despite a8 wntten reminder, Corker has not responded. Nor has

Hacking cooperated. This contact with Corker was facilitated by

Hacking's co-direcior, Sestwvale.

COn 18 July 2008, the Commission had reguested Sexwale, via a letter
to Werksmans, "fo put the Commission in fouclt™ with Hacking andfor
Mr Harith Al-Hajil ("AlHaji"), who are registered as co-directors of
Mocoh. Both are resident in the United Kingdom according to the
records of the Registrar of Companies. On 4 August 2008
Werksmans replied. They did not deal with the Commigsion's request,
but rather suggested that the Commission was no longer vested with

poveers of investigation and was "in faci funcius officio”,

On 25 August 2006, after Werksmans had been satisfied that the final
report date had been extended to 30 September 2008, they informed
the Commission that Sexwale had lost contact with Al-Hajil, and had in
fact not communicated with him for several years. The Commission
was informed that Hacking could be contacted through Corker. Details

of Corkers e-mail, telephone and telefax numbers were then provided.

As a result of Hacking's failure to co-operate, more cogent evidence

from Sexwale will have to be soughl, For reasons which become
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apparent below, the Commizsion nesds to question Sexwale further
andior summons relevant documentation in the possession of Macaoh
andior Mvelaphanda. The last-mentionad company apparently regards

Mocoh as "our compam”.

CONTRADICTIONS BETWEEN THE IC REPORT, SEXWALE'S

RESPONSE AND OTHER DOCUMENTATION

[10.]

[11.]

Tabile 1 reflects that Mocoh entered into 6 contracts to purchase oil and

that the Mission country was South Africa, A total of 10, 800, DOD

harrels were allocated, of which 8, 582, 627 were |ifted. The aggregate
amount expendad by Mocoh for the purchaze of this oil was US § 185,
588, 266. Surcharges of US § 574, 6099 were paid, although only US §

674, 120, was levied. This left Mocoh with a credit. Mission records

provided to the Commission establish that South Africa did not act as

the Mission country for these contracts

Table 3 names Sexwale as the non-contractual beneficiary of oil
allocations during Phases 6 {two million bamels), 7 (eight hundred
thousand barrals), & (one million barrels) and 13 {two million barrels),
According to BOMC records there was no contracting company far any

af the allocations. In his rasponse Sexwale alleges the following;

“Al bamrels aliocaled (o e were liffed by MEE4 (Mocoh), and Hacking

and his company Mocoh [(Energy infernational Limitod) would have

altended lo that detail.




[12] In Table 2 it was alleged that Mocoh lifted barrels of oil during Phases

[13.]

[14.]

at0 B, {Only Phases 8 and 8 fall into the period when surcharges were

levied).  Soulh Affica is incorrectly reflected as the Mission country.

Surcharges of US § 84, 631 {arising from Contract No. M/08/54), and
LIS § 478, 488 (arising from Contract Mo. M/09/40), were levied. For
convenience these two contracts are respectively referred to below as
‘the First Mocoh Contract” and “the Second Mocoh Confrect’. The
amount levied in respact of the First Mocoh Contract was duly paid.
US § 480, 068 was paid in respect of the Second Mocoh Contract

leaving a surcharge credit of US § 578,

According to the notes appearing at the end of Table 2, 11C allegations

records. The surcharge surplus was derived from SOMO records. The

nates o Table 2 reflect that occasionally lrag applied a surcharge

payment io the wrong contract number for a pariicular purchaser,

resuiling in a negative outstanding surcharge balance. Furthermore,

differences are also attributed to advance payments and discrepancies

between the UM and SOMO data,

In relation fo tha surcharges cllegedly paid pursuant to the
second Mocoh Contract compelling decumantation obiained
from Jordan Mational Bank by the IC suggests that, whether or
not these arrors occurred, =surcharges wers paid on twe

accasions for and on behalf of Mocoh.

LA
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[15.]

[16.]

[17.]

The Comrmission provided Sexwale's legal representatives with copies
of four letters (in Arabic) which reflect the approval of vil contracts by
SOMO and the Ministry of QY. These letters of approval related to

contracls concluded during Phases 5 to 5. The last-mentioned was an

approval of the Second Meocoh Contract.  The Commission has

obtained a sworn translation thereof”. This translation was provided to

Sexwale's representatives. Paiagraph 11 of the approval, is translated

as follows:

"11 — Recovery Amcunt:  Fayable within (30} Days sfter shipment

loading”.

The documentation provided to the Commission by the lIC
includad the First Mocoh Contract. It did not include a letter of
approval of this ceontract The Commission therefore cannot
determine whether or not a surcharge was levied on this

gllocation.

The IIC provided the Commission with two dosuments. in Arabic,
emanating from Jordan Mational Bank®™. An English stamp on the first
document states "FPAID BY MICHAEL HACKING'. A handwritien
annotation says "this presants 2650 of the lols! amount’.  An English
stamp on the second document states “BY ORDER OF MICHAEL

HACKING TO ACCOUNT. A handwritten annotation reads, “On

12
44
45

Zea Decuments Mo, &, 3, "0 and 11ir Addandum 2
Sea Documents Mo, 7200 Addesdum 3
Sea Document B, 15 and 14 in Addendum 3.
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[18.]

[19.]

[20.]

bahalf of Mocoh Sendces'. None of the signatures on thess
documents mesemble the signatures ot Hacking which appear on

Mocoh oil contracts and applicaticns.

Swom translations of these two documents (inte English), were
obtained by the Commission™. The franslations ware also furnizshed to

Werksmans, The translation of the first document reflects that a

transfer of Swiss Francs from aceount to account by order of Michael

Hacking was effected on 18 April 2001, in the amount of CHF 424, 855,

The due date for payment is reflected as 12 April 2001

From the translation it appears thal a handwritten note, in Arabic, on

the second document, reads — "Mr lhrahiim please do not repestonly (o

know the name of the financing company with kind regacds”.  This

suggests that an lragi official was reprimanded for naming
Hacking as the persan who autherised the payment on hbehalf of

Mococh., The translation refiects that an amount of Swiss France vz,

CHF 555 630 was transferred from account to account by order of

Michael Hacking on behalf of Mocoh Services on 15 July 2001, The

due date for payment was 15 July 2001,

Table 5 reflects three surcharge payments associated with Mocoh.

Two relate to the Second Maocoh Contract.  The first payment of the

two is dated 12 April 2001, The amount of this surcharge Is reflected

Sea dacumenss Mo, 15 2nd 8 in Acdencum 3.
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[21.]

[22.]

[23]

2001. The amount reflecled s US § 220, 949,74, The total s US §
480, 067.56. The notes io Table O state that the amount of surcharge
payments is as indicated in the S0MO ledger of surcharges. Both the
“native currency” and the US dollar value were provided in the ledger.

Cnly the US dollar value is presented in Table 5.

Cocumentation exchanged between Hacking and the Oil Overseers,
the escrow bank and the UN, as well as a note from the Senior
Undersecretary to the Ministry of Gil", record the approval of the
extension of the wvalidity of the Second Mocoh Confract (dated 30

January 2001}, to 20 Apnl 2001, instead of 31 March 2001.

On 18 Apnl 2001, according to SOMO records, 917, 857 barrels were

lifted at Al Bakr by the vessel, LYRIA. Copies of the receipt were 1o be

directed to Mocoh, "care of the escrow bank, Mocoh Benmore Soull

Afnica and Hacking, care_of SOMC Baghdad™®. On the same date,

anather million_barrels were lifted by the same vessel™. The receipts

were to be distributed as in the first lift. Two credits drawn on BNP

London were issued. The letter of credit number was ILC 57218,

Two surcharge payments in respect of the one oil contract are nol

extraordinary; becauss two lifte wars recorded by SOAO,

qT

Gee Docoments Mo, 17,18, 19, 20 and 217 in Addendiom 3 The ast menioned is an
Englisk translation of tha fale frorm the Undarsacralasy, Dosurrand Bo. 18

Gee Document Me. 22 in Addendum 3

Sae Docament Me, 23 In sddencum 3
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[24.]

Table 4 which relates to the known Underlying Qil Financier of the
second Mocoh Contract refllects that the allocation was shipped in two
liftz of 100, 000 and 917, 957 barrels and thal the aggregate amounts
expended by Koch ws letters of credit wera US § 24, 080, 573 and US

B 22, 104, 831, respectively.

MOCOH"S CONDUCT AS DOCUMENTED

[25.]

G.]

=1

In Sexwale's response he stated that his understanding was that

Mocoh had to be registered via the South African Mission, that Hacking

attended to thiz and that it was done.

On 27 March 2003, Hacking directed a letter to the Ambassadaor at the

Mizssion on Mocoh's letterhead™. He referred therein to “owr confract

with S0OMO to foad two million barrels of Basrah Light under confract
number MA 2/ 26", He asked the Mission to ensure that this contract

was fully implemented. The bagis for his claim was that Mocoh was a

South African registered company.  (Mocoh was registered as a

compéeny in South Africe, but not with tha Mission as 2 participant

in the Programime). A handwritten note on this letter, apparently

drrected by Nacerodien to Cardy at the Mission, suggests that neither

Mocoh nor Hacking were registered at the UN through South Adrica,

(Thiz coniradicts Table 2). Nacerodien’'s advice was that Hacking

should be told fo work through the mission “throogh which the confract

was signed.

SBes Dacuant Ma, 24 m Addesdum 2.

.



[27.]

[26.]

(28]

[30]

Cn 8 April 2003, Cardy directed a letier by telefax to “Mr Wichael
Hacking (Mocah Services South Affica)” on behaf of the Mission™.
Cardy advised Hacking that "According fo the Mission's records 'Mocoh
sefvives South Afnca’ is not regisiered as a South African national oif

purchaser in lerms of the United Nations ltag Programme”.

UN documentation provided by tha |IC to the Commission containg no

evidence of relevant communication directed to the Mission by Mocoh

and Hacking, or of UM communication with the Missicn in relation to

———rL

Cil Overseers on Mocoh letterheads. These bore a post office box

address at Benmore South Africa, as well as South African telephone

and telefax numbears.

The conclusicn to be drawn Is that Hacking attempted to exploit
the Scuth African natienality of Mocoh, a=s Al-Khafaji (Omnl) was
shown to have done in the June Repori. =ava that Hacking
bypassed the Mission. From Sexwale's version it is apparent that
Hacking was able to obtain oil allocations on the strength of

Saxwale's profile.

Cardy, Dormenl and Nacerodien could explain how this was
possible under the Programme, It becomes imparative for Cardy

and Nacerodien to aszsist the Commiesion by sharing their first

See Document Mo, 25 o Aaddendum 3,
- ER L



hand knewladgs of the llizit technigues employed by participants
in the Programme who either made illicit use of the Mission or
manafgsd to bypass it, while leaving the UN and the IIC to believe

that the Mission was involved in the process.

[31.] A media release was issued by Mvelaphanda on 20 January 20042 |t
slated, infer alia, that "Mvelaphands paricipafed in the Qi for Food
Programime”. The UM awarded tenders to "Mvelaphanda, through cur
LK., Dased padner, Mocol Services". The media release added that
the above process was above board and that there were no financial

transactions with the Iragi Government or its leadership.

[32.] Sexwale's response suggests that allocations were made o Sexwale
and were lifted by Mocoh, Hacking and his (UK) company. The media
release on the ofher hand, avers that Mvelaphanda paricipated
through Mocoh UK. In Sexwale's response no mention is made of
Ivelaphanda being the beneficiary. or the company which contracted
to lift the oil. (However, in terms of an agresment between the joint
venture parners in Moceh, entities controlled by Sexwale received

50% of the issued share capital in Mocah )

THE NC TABLES v SEXWALE'S RESPONSE

[33] In Table 3 “Sexwale's Country” ie referred to as Haly. This could

partly explain why Mocoh was never regiztersd with the South

Gae Cocument Ma. 26 in Sddendum 3
L EG




[34.]

[33.]

[36.]

African Misgior. It does net explain how Hacking was able 1o desl
directly with the Oil Overzeers in ctoncluding and sxecuting the

five contracts which are dealt with below.

In Sexwale's responsae he states that the "refarance fo Faly is not
undarsfnod, and must, as far as | am concerned be an enor in eithar
the NC Repard or SOMO's records™. In Table 3 the Mission country for
the Phase 6 and 7 allocations to Sexwale, is identified as South Africa.

The Fhase 8 allocation, is reflected there as not being attributable to

any contracting company. According to SOMOD records there was no

Mission country.  (This allocation probabhly related to the First

Macoh Contract.)

Annexed to Sexwale's response was a schedule of barrels allocated to
Sexwale and lifted during Phases 5, 6, 7, 8 and 0 ["Sexwale’s

Schedul="]. Mo allocation is reflected dunng Phase 12, the Phase in

which Hacking claimed 1o the Mission that Mocoh had concluded a

contract. & further allocation of two million barrels is reflected on
Sexwale’s Schedule during Phase 13, This was allegedly never lifteq.
The allocations in Sexwale's Schadule accord with the allocations o
Sexwale reflected in Table 3 in relation to Phases ¥, 8 and 13 (when
gight thundred thousand, one milicn and two rmillien  barrels

respectively wers lifted).

Sexwale's Schedule reflects that fhree million barrcis wore allocated in

Phase 6. The allocation = reflected as two million barrelz in Table 3.

- fl) -



[37.]

[38.]

[38.]

allegedly lifted during Phase 6. A nole from the executive director of
SOMO, Mr Saddam Hassan ("Hassan"). to the Ministry of Oil accords

with Sexwale's version. The note states that “based on fhe approval

af Vice-President of the Republic Mr Tahs Yaseen Ramsdan oh 14

Oclober 1989", the guantity of the SOMO contract with Mocoh

barrels {i.e. during Phase 6}, Table 3 reflects that none of the barrels

allocated to Sexwale were lifted during Phase 6. However, in Tabie 2

Mocoh are reflected as having lifted 2, 882, 625 barrels during Phase

&, under Contract No. M/QE/Z8. (The contract value was US § 63, 268,

351

This suggests that Sexwals is correct when he contends that
Mocoh liftad barrels allocated t¢ him and that the Tables are
incorract. In this respect, the methodolegy of the G was faulty in

tha caze of Mocoh.

Though the Tables are exposzed to contradiction, Sexwale could
assist the Commission to establish important facts, and also by

exposing the pracise nature of any defects in the IC methodolegy.

Mocoh ought to respond to the cogent svidance which shows that
surcharge paviments wers mads purzuant to the Secend Meocoh

Coptract, Seuwsle hz=z fziled to zasist the Commission to

See Dooumen: Mos, 27 and 28 in addendur 3. The [sst mertioned is & translstion of
Hazsan's nale.

- 1] -



e=tablish the veracity of the allegations in Table 3 (which are
fortified, In regard to the Second Mcooh Centract by letters of
approval and documents emanating from Jordan National Bank),
to the effsct that Hacking made or autherised surcharge
paymantz. His statement contradictz cther documentation. The
position should be resolved by reference to documentation that
may be in the possession of Mocoh and Mvelaphanda, and by
obtaining & further and batter explanation from Sexwala. A

summons of the relevant documents may also be necessary.

THE TEXT OF SEXWALE'S RESPUNSE

[400.]

[41 ]

[42.1

The gravamen of Sexwale's response is as follows. He lefl public
office in 1998 and entered the commercial arena with & publicly stated
focus on the energy and resources sectors.  He established that
Hacking was a man of good standing and repute in the oil industry:

and halieves him to be so till this day.

Hacking has been involved in the oil industry since 1579, bath in South
Africa and esewhere. He is an expart in oil trading transaclions, more
specifically in negotiating. financing and structuring them, particulany

via his company, Mocoh Enargy International Limited {"Mocoh LK),

During 1998, Hacking and hiz associate Mr Harith Al-Agl ("Agf), an
Iragi businezaman based in |raq and Jordan. approached Sexwale with

a view to farming a joint venture to participate in the Programme,

L



[43.]

[44.]

[456.]

Apparently they had observed that no Scouth African company was
trading under the Programme, nobwithetanding the close melationshig
betwean South Africa and Irag. They believed thal with Sexwale's
"Black Empowermen! credenlials’, allocations of oil could ke oblained

from SOMO.  After exensive negoliations the three men decidod fo

forrn a company, Mocoh, to register if with the UN under the

Programme and thereafter to frade under that Programme.

It would therefores appgar that between 1988 and 14 June 2006,
when his responze was directed to the Commission, Sexwale
nevar bocame aware that Meoecoh were not registered as a South

African national ell purchaser in terms of the Programme.

After protracted negotiations it was agreed that the profits would be
shared sccording to the agreed shareholding: that is, Sexwale (or
entities controlled by Sewwale) received five hundred and one shares,
eguating to 50,1% of the issued shared capital of Mocaoh, Ajil, three
hundred shares, equating to 30% of the issued shared capital of
Mocoh, and Mocoh UK, a company controlled by Hacking, one
hundred and ninely nine shares, equating fo 19.8% of the issued

shared capital,

Hacking was to assume all financial risk and would bear all and any
losses that might be incumred in the transactions. For this financial fsk
it was agresd that Hacking would be entitled to receive an additional

fee over and above his company's profit share.  This would be

W



[46.]

[47 ]

determined on & reasonable basis a5 appropriate io each transaction
This fee, together with Hacking's costs and other costs, would be

deducted before distributing the profits of Mocoh to each shareholder.

£ company search has established that Mocoh was duly
registersd in terms of the Companies Act and that Saxwale,
Hacking and Ajil {reflected in the relevant records as Al-Hajil) were
appointad as directors on 24 May 1999, tegether with Mark John
Willcox. The last-mentioned is repuisd to be Sexwale’s co-
director in Mvelaphanda. Prior to his appointmant as director, on
7 February 1988, Hacking had already zigned Oil Contract Humber
Mf0S/62, as a director of the purchaser, Mococh. He persenally
directed this contract to Alexander Kramer, an Oil Ovarseer, an 11
February 1988, on a Mocoh letterhaad. This reflected Sexwals and
Hacking as directors. A post coffice box at Benmora and
Johannasburg telefax and telephone numbers were given as
contact datailz. The letter stated that Hacking could be contacted

telephonically in Lenden™.

In the agreement betwaen the joint venlure partners, the specific role of
each person was defined. Sexwale's primary role was to |obby for
support from the Iragi government in order to obtain oil allocations. He
was not requirad o be involved in the day to day mechanics of trading
in il or with the raising of finances, the Ifting of oil, payment for the ail,

the onward oil sales or any adminislzative matters,  This was the

See Dacurrant Na: 28 in Addendum 3
Bl -



[48.]

[48]

[50.]

[21.]

responsibilty of Hacking,  Ajil's role was to assigt in the lobbying
process by acting as a liaison befween SOMO and Mocoh,  {Ajil was

based in lrag.)

COver and above the responsibilities of Hacking mentioned above, he
was also to be responsible for attending to all administrative matters,
for ensunng that all of the requirements of the UN were met and that all

payiments of oll were made into the escrow account.

In order to fulfii his lobbying function, Sexwale travelled to Irag on
numerous gocasions. He met with various officials such as Hassan.
He alse met Deputy Prime Minister, Aziz. Throughout the Prograrmme,
South Africa and Irag were aclively developing business and political

ties,

Moceh entered the Programme during the fifth Phase (24 Movember
1986 to 24 May 1999). It concluded Contract No. MAOS/E2 and lifted 1,

812, 75% barrels.

During Phase 6 (25 May 19249 till 17 December 1989, under Contract
Mo. MAGE28 it lifted 2, 882, 625 barrels. As pointed out above the [IC
Report Incomecily ststes that two million bamslzs were allocated
during this Phase and that they were allocated to Sexwale
perscrally. He zlleges that the cil was lified for and on behalf of

K acoh on sl cccasions,

-5 -



152.]

53.]

[54.]

[55.]

6]

[57.]

Dwring Phase 7 (12 December 1399 to 8 June 2000), under Contract

Mo, MGA26, Mocoh lifted 832, 973 barrals.

During Phase 8 (8 June 2000 to 4 December 2000}, under Contract

Mo, MDE/IS4, Mocoh lifted 846, 312 barrels.

During Phase 9 {1 Decernber 2000 to 2 July 2001), under Contract Mo,

MOS0, Mocoh [fted 1, 917, 957 barrels.

"‘Dunng the cumrency of phases eight or mne” (the duration of this

pericd was one year approximately), Sexwale learned from Hacking

and Ajil that SOMO had demanded thal surcharges be paid to it. They

advized Sexwale that all companies trading with lrag under the
Programme would have to make these payments. Mocoh also had to
do s unless Sexwale, through his relationships with persons such as
AzZiz and Hassan, could persuade them to forge the surcharges. He

duly made the requests.

Sexwals ie silent as to when and to whom he made the requasis.
Senwale's response is zlso silent as 1o whether or not he receivad

& response to his requests let alone a positive response.

cexwale's response continues with an affirmation that he was at no

stage prepared to sanclion lhe payment of surcharges. He ralied

instead on his ability to lobby senior Iragi officials and those who

= B



[58.]

controlled SOMO  io waive paymont of surcharges Soowale's

objection to these surcharges was bolh commercial and moral

Clearly his reguests fell on deaf ears. Mocoh is alleged by the |IC
to have paid =urcharges in refations to contracts which were
concluded during the currency of Phases 8 and 8 Given
Sexwale’s alleged profile, one would have expected the Iragis to
have done him the courtesy of responding one wey or the other.
One would have expected him to convey to the Commission the
detzils of any requests and the response(s) which must have been
elicited {or to state emphatically that he received no response]. In
the absence of any response, one would also have expecled
information relating to the fime by which any response would
have been reasonable. A further and better sxplanaticn from
Sexwale is necessary: that is, explaining how he procesded (o
negeoliate more il contracts after Mocoh had already incurred an

ocbligation to pay surcharges.

“Prior lo the tenth FPhase' (this began on 3 July 2001, a formal

discussion was held between various representatives of Mocoh,

including Hacking and Sexwsle.  The question of surcharges was

discussed and it was exprassly agreed that no surcharges wouid be

pand in any manner of form. Moooh would continue to apply for more

oil allocations and lobby for @ waiver of surcharge paymenis.

o



[51.]

Contract Mo. WIGRISA [the First Mocoh Centract), wae concluded
on 26 June 2000 (iLe. more than a year before Fhase 10
commenced). The SOMO distribution records, copies of which
apparently went te Hacking, show that 948, 313 barrels had
already keen lifted on 3 Hevember 2000, The lIC alleges that
gsurcharges were levied and pzaid therean. In the circumstances,
ocne would have sxpected Sexwale to daal in his response with
what was discussed betwesn Mocoh representatives in ralation to
the First Mocoh Contract which had been cencludad during Phazs
8. alternatively to explain why this contract was not discussod.
One would have expected Sexwale to inform the Commiszion of
what was discussed in relation to Irag’s demands, and whether or
riat the participants in the “por fo the fenfh phase” meeting
showed any concern fer the fect that thay wera acting too late to
prevent the payment of the surcharge during Phase 8. The First
Mocoh Contract must have been in Sexwale's mind at the tima.
The one million barrels had, according to Table 3, been allocated
to Sexwale personally. On his own version, he had successfully

lobbiad for this allocation.

During Phases 10 to 12 (.e. the perod 3 July 2001 to 25 November

2002), neither Meocoh nor Sexwale were allocated barrels: nor did they
‘Wt ariy barrels from lrag whalsoever".  This was despite constant
lobbying by Sexwale and applications being submilted in each of the

phases for the allccations of barrels. Sexwale concluded that this was

See Document Mo 30 e Addenclum 5
w i =



[62.]

162

[E4.]

a consequence of the fact that Mocoh was nol prepared to pay

surcharges and did not do so.

in contradiction to Sexwalz's response, his co-director of Mocoh,
Hacking {in his letter to Ambassador Kumalo at the Mission, on 27
March 2003), stated unsquivocally that Mocoh had concluded
Contiact No. MM2M26 with SOMO, for the delivery of twve million

barrels.

In relation to Phaze 13 (5 December 2002 to 3 June 2003), Sexwale
confirms that the [IC Report is comect in so far as it states that he was
allocated two million barrels which were never lifted. Had they been
lifted, he confirms that this would have been done with Mocch in

accordance with past practice.

Therefors during Fhase 12, when Hacking altegas that Mocch

concludad Contract Mo, MM2M26:

aj Mecoh was still in the business of concluding oil contracts

with SOW O a= alleged by Hacking in his letter to Cardy;

b) Hacking was still 2 director; and

c} Seawale was unaware of Hacking’s activities.

g



Contract Kumber Mj0S/E2

[68.] On 11 February 1999, Hacking directed the signed contract and other

(7o

documentation to the UN Overseers under cover of a letter beating a
Mocoh letterhead™. Hacking and Sexwale, are reflected there as
direclors ie. some three monthe before they were appointed, The
ultimate consumer in terms of the contract was to be "refining systams
in the Far East”. Hacking was the contact person and he signed the

contract on 7 February 180948,

A letter of credit was issued by the United European Bank, Genava, on
15 April 1888 (Mumber LC1M1075853), in the amount of US & 24, 000,

000, by order of Macaoh.

Contract Mumber MOG/28

P

2 9

Sirnilarly, this contract was direcled to the Oil Overseers by Hacking on
Morcaoh's letterhead on 2 June 1989 Hacking signed the contract on 30
May 1588, in his capacity as directar of Mocoh™, An amended lelter of
credit was issued by United European Bank, Geneva (Mumber
LCAMI08E936), in the amount of US § 22, 000, 00O, on behalf of

Mocoh™. The original letler of credit was for a maximum ameunt of US

515, 000, DO0,

See Documert Mo, 21 n Addencurm 30 This dacumant in‘er ava, is referied tooin
paragrapt 130 1 of Part [

Sea Decument Mo, 32 in Addendurm 2.

See Decument Mo, 33 in Adderdurm 2

= 7] =



[F2.] This coniract was approved on 10 January 2000 by the G661

Committee. In a ietter directed by Mocoh to the Qil Qversesrs and
stgned with Hacking's authority, the quantity was changed from 1, 200,
000 parrels to 800, 000 bamels. The contract had been signed on 14
Decembar 1899 by Hacking™. The letter of credit (Number LC
KAILCOD00260), in the amount of US 5 20, 160, 000, wag issued on
behalf of Mocoh, by BNP Hong Kong (e a sister company of the

escrow bank): by order of Zhen Rong Co. Lid for and on behalf of

Moceh™,

Contraci Number M/08/54

[73.] This is the Firet Mocoh Contract. The contract was appraved on 5 July

2000, An undated application for approval was signed by Hacking on
benalf of Mocoh. The contract was signed by Hacking in his capacity
as director on behalf of Mocoh on 28 June 2000%', The letter of credit
(Mumber LC F2ILCO00Z7S1) was issued by BNP Paris (a sister
company of the escrow bank), in the amount of LIS § 30, 000, 000, by

arder of Mocoh, an 24 October 2000,

=H
Ed
Gl
1

See Dacument N, 24 in Acdendum 3.
See Document Mo 25 In Addendum 3
Sae Document Mo 36 in Acderdum 5.
See Oocusent Mo 37 ir Acdendum 3,




Contract Number MOS0

[74-]

[75.]

This 1z the Second Mocoh Contract  Hacking signed the original
contract as a director on 30 January 2001%. The contract was
approved, in an amended form, on 26 March 2001. SOMO had agreed
to extend the validity of the original contract until 20 April 2001, instead
of 30 April 2001, On 7 March 2001, in a letter signed by Hacking for
and on behalf of Mocoh, Hacking had requested the Oil Overseers to
axtend the original contract which had baen concluded on 30 January
2001™, The undated application for approval of the ofiginal contract

had bheen signed by Hacking as the managing director of Mocoh®

A letter of credit (Number LG ILCE7218), in the amount of Eurg 44,
400, 000, was issued by BNP London {a sisier company of the cscrow

bank), by order of Mocoh on 30 March 2004,

it iz apparent from all the documentation that Hacking dealt
directly with the UN Overseers. Sexwale was incorrect when he
suggested that registration through the Mission was likely and
had cccurred. This calls for an explanation. The likely sources of

such an explanation ars Cardy, Mich [Counsel for the lC) and

[76.]

Hacking.
o See Documant Mo, 38 in Addendem 2,
f“_' Sez Documsant Ma. 35 n &ddardism 3.
; Sea Documenl Mo, 40 1 Addandum 2,

Sea Documant Mo, 41 im0 Addandem 3.



[77.]

This anomaly suggesis that it may be necesszry io pass
legislation prohibiting any participation by South African
naticnalz {i.e. by nalural or legal perzons), in UN Programmes of
the kind in guestion, except under the suparvision of South
African departments of state and after registration with the

relevant degartment.



FART E

e METHODOLOGY APPLICAELE TC THE INVESTIGATION OF THREE

SOUTH AFRICAN COMPANIES ALLEGED BY THE IIC TO HAVE PAID

KICKBACKS

[1.

[£.]

[3.]

For purposes of azsessing the payment of kickbacks related to the sale
af humanitadan goods, the relevant allegations made by the IIC are

cantained in three Tables wz. Table 6, Table 7 and Table 8.

Table 6 deals with hurnanitarian goods purchased by the Government
of Irag from each supplier, The supplier is defined by the name of the
contracting entity for the supply of humanitarian goods procured by the

Government of lrag. The |IC recognised that some of the entities were

gilther no longer active or had been dissolved: othars were subsidiarias

of larger organisations.  The Mission country was the country with

which the supplier had registered to provide goods to Irag. Categories

of goods are described as stated in the QOIP database.

The number of contracts referred to i the number of sepsrate
contracts for which goods were delivered and paid for from the escrow
account. The contract face value given in thie Table is defined as "fhe
aggregate confract vaiwe by supplier in USD equivalent as stated i the
(NF database for conmtracts for which goods were funded snd
delivered”. Contract disbursements are listed, These are defined as

"the anoregate amotnt by supplier in USD eqguivalent of payments paid



[4.]

[>]

[6.]

from the tsecrow Account o the supplior for the delivery of procurad

crooas”.

Evidance of illicit payments is either based entirely on projections ot is

based 0 whole or in part on actual data. Under the last-mentioned

which direct or indirect evidence exists of illict payments. (Companies

found to have evidence of illicil payments total 2, 253, or 62% of the 3,

614 companies that participated in the Programme.)

Table 7 relates to actual and projected illicit payments on contracts for
humanitarian goods. A summary is given of each supplier. A number
of qualifying cantracts are listed. These are defined as “the mimber of
contracts for the suppifer listed in which direct or indirect evidence

exisls of an ilficit payment.,. For a confract fo be listed, paymenis fo

the supisier on the contract must have been made prior to July 1, 2003

at_which fime the CPAY amended confracts to remove their ilflicit

paymant componenis.

Table 7 tabulates “levied ASSE". This is defined as the total amount of

ASSF estimated to have been levied by Irag on the related supplier for

the qualifying contracts, "The (ofal amount levied for all suppliers {ivas)
esiimated at US § 1, 2 bilion.  This amount is comprised of either

actual lavy dala or is estimated.”

Tha Coaltion Provisional Auiborly of Ireg.
- T



7]

(8]

[9.]

[10]

A delailed accodnting of fees levied for each of the contracts, is source

and basis of quantification are described in Table 8.

"Paid ASSH is defined as "the tolal amount of ASSE estimated fo have

been colfected by the Govemment of irag from e supplier an the

qualifying cotitracts (including amounls collected by pavment agents

such &5 And Company for Transpordalion)".  (The tolal amount

collected from all suppliers is estimated at US % 1, 02 billion.} This

amount is comprised of either actual payment data or is estimated.

it is important t¢ bear in mind that enly UN contract numbers
appear in the Tables, The Government of Irag, its depariments of
state and Iragi state institulions uzed their own raference

numbers,

A detailed accounting of fees collected Tor each of the contracts, its

source and basis of quantification are descrbed in Table B,

Alsa labulated in Table 7 are “jnland trensportation fees (smount)”.

This “indicates lhe amount paid on the contract for infand iransportation

fees for goods delvered fhrough Umm Quasr.  The lolal emount

collectod from all suppliers (was) estimaled at US § 527 milion”. This
total was comprised of actual data where available, Actual figures
were obtained from the Cenlral Bank of Irag ("the CBF) documents,

Alia Company for Transport and general trade stalements, the Irag



[12.]

[13.]

iy

Slate Company for Water Transpor (Cthe ISCWT" documentation,

company correspondence and bank staternents

The IC found evidence indicating that some shipments fhrough land
crossings ware also assessed with a minor inland transportation fee.

The computation of ITF an many contracts was hindered by the lack of

specific shipping information.

A detailed accounting of fees collected for each of e contracts, was

quantified. Source and basis of computation were included as part of

Table 5.

RECORDS OF ALlIA COMPANY FOR TRANSPORTATION (" AL7A"]

[14.]

[15.]

Alia acted as an agent for the Iragi regime, |t collected kickbacks from
suppliers on a very large scale. It kept comprehensive records which
were furnished to the Commission by the IC.  These reveal
transactions relating to companies described only as "Glaxe" and

“Falcon Cao’,

The single Glaxo reference appears in a file which specifically
fabulates kickbacks. It relates to a guaraniee dated 9 September
2001, on a Caontract No. 844, The ASSF is Eurg 6. 22577, and the
original contract value is Euro 62, 267 87. The total confract value is
given as Eurn 68, 527 44, The letler of credit number is T 732 706,

The request and approval numbers are also listed. Howewver, the

-
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6]

Cammission was unabla 1o traca this contract among the contracts that

appear in the Tables.

Another file contains information relating to Alig's transactions, The

following entries relate 1o Falcon Co,

16,1

16.2

16.3

16.4

16.5

On 29 January 2002, an incoming transfer credit of 160, 158,
000 was passed in the currency of an unknown account. This
had an equivalent currency value of Eurg 88, 08B0, 759 on the

date in guestion.

On the same day three entries were passed. These related to a
total credit of 47, 268, 000 in the currency of the unknown

account. This was equivalent to Eurg 2B, 940, 799,

On 18 February 2002, a credit was passed for 44, 158, 000 in

the unknown curmency. This was equivalent to Euro 27, 288,

332.

Cn 25 Geptember 2002, a credil was passed for 53, 358, 000 n

the unknown currency, This was equivalent to Euro 37, 008,

D42,

COn 12 Movember 2002, a credit was passed for 48, 850 in the
unknown curmensy. This was equivalent 1o Euro 35, V87, 0BG,

On the same date. a further eniry was made for 27, 189, 000, in

S



[17]

the unknown currency,.  This was equivaient to Euro 28, 704

&6

168 On 3 February 2002, a credit of 95, 705, 000 in the unknown
currency, was given “as per [he request of FALCON LAD 727

958L°, apparently for "the accoun! of the State Company for

tragi Water Transport™ (i.e, the ISCWT). This was equivalent to

Euro 61, 221, 363.

6.7 A further entry, without a date or any information, appears for
the supplier “Falcon Company” for 375 tons of tea in relation o

the ISCWT.

Besides Falcon Trading Group Limited, only one other company
bearing the name Falcon appears in the Tables, wviz. Falcon Trading
(FTE) Ltd, whose bdission country was SRI LANKA. This company
supplied tea: as did the Falcon Trading Group which is under
investigation. Howsver, the conclusions drawn by the IC against the
SRI LANKAN company were apparently based entirely on projections
rnade by the |IC; whereas the findings against the "South Afrcan” entity
weaere based on actual data, This suggests that the entrie= in sub
paragraphs 15.1 1o 15.6 above related to the Falcon Trading Group

Limited.

el

A5 will appzar balow from the documentation melating to ITF pad by Apa Pumps ano
sgraements signed by Al-Khzfaj on behzlf of Falcon the [S0WT was an agoent fo
the collection of ITF on behal® of the goverament of Lz

R



[1E] The correlation of these entries In the books of Alia with findings
mazde by the lIC constitute ong issue thal requires resclution with

the aszistance of Bich (Counsal for the lIC).

L



PART F

ANALYSIS OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTATION RELATING TO APE FUNPES

[1.]

[2.]

[3]

The investigation of Ape Fumps [lustrates the offoctivensss of
exercising the powers wvested in the Commizsion by the
Commissions Act. In answer to a summons to produce
documents which was issued in terms of section 3 thereof, Ape
Pumps produced the documents in thelr possession
punctilicusly. A comparisen of these decuments with those
previded by the [IC and the Mission permils a final conglusion to
be reached in respect of the payment of ASSF. Kt is clear that Ape
Fumps paid ASSF in respect of two contracts numbered 830778
and 103050€ respectively. The only further investigation requirad

relates to the determination of whather ITF were pald.

Furthermeore, the methodelogy of the IC in relaticn to technigues
of investigation is vindicated. These tachnigues include the
axamination of agency agreemgnts, correzpondence bebwesn
coniractorz and their agents, and the analysis of paymenis made

to apentz in order to establish whether such payments

accommodaied ASSF,

Unfortinately, Ape Fumps was the enly company listed in the

Annaxure which co-oparated fully with the Commizsion.



NG ALLEGATIONE

4]

[5]

[6.]

Table & comectly reflects the Mission country for the supplier, Ape
Pumps, as baing South Africa. Three contracts, with a total contract
face value ot US § 1. 17B. 535 are referred to.  The confract

disbursements amounted 1o US § 1, 303, 660. The findings wers

based in whole or in part on actual data™.

Table 7 alleges that two of Ape Pump's contracts qualified ie. involved

were levied, US $ 96,200 was paid. These findings relate to contracts

whete the amounts reported were based entirely on actual data™,

Table & alleges that, during Phase &, Ape Pumps concluded Contract

Mo. 830775 to supply pumps and spare parts. The face value of this

contract was US § 1, 028 096 The conbact disbursements ie.

pavment from the escrow account. amounted to mote than that vz, US

$ 1. 117, 565. ASSF was levied in the amount of US § 93, 837, (This

information was derved from company corespondence] An amount of

US & 83, 460 was paid. {This information was oblained from Ministry

financial data) ITF of US § 3. 600 were paid. (Tha source referred to

is "other documents™

B

N Takie B! page 20 of 182, Docurert Ne 42 in Addendom 3
I'C Table 7 pages 20 of 190, Dogurent Me. 43 in Addendum 3

T



[8.]

During Phase 10, Ape Pumps concluded Condract No. 1030806 for the

supply of pumps, blowers, gearboxes and spares. The contract face

value was US § 30, 233, Agsin payment from fhe escrow account

exceeded the face value of the contract. The contract dishursements

amounted to US $ 36 377, ASSE was levied in the amount of US § 2

748, {Company correspondence was the source of this information)

Ape Pumps paid ASSF in the amount of US § 2. 740, (The source of

thiz information was Ministry financial data) [TF were paid in an

amount of US 5 800, ({The source of this conclusion is referred to as

“alher documenis™ .

On 26 July 2005, the IC informed Ape Pumps in a confidential letter
that information in its possession indicated that Ape Pumps had
contracts during the Programme ‘on wfiich unaulhonzed payments
were made™™. Mr Dave Murphy ("Muphy™), the sales directar of Ape
Pumps. replied on their behalf on 11 August 20057, Murphy stated
thal the allegations had "raised cancem in our company'. He added
that ail financial transaclions were handied by Ape Pump's agent, "hut
Wwea were aware thal a ten per cent sales tax was paid, for contracts we
recoived ware aMays inflated by this amoun! compsred fo ouor

tendered figures”

“Thiz was confirmed by both P & O snd MSC shipping lines, for they
wolld not handle the goods unless we supplied ta them the official

recaipt, showing thal sales lax had been paid”

b3

|

3 Takle & saco 42 of 381, Decurment Mo, 44 in Addendum 2
See Document Mo &hin Addendum 3
See Dhcument Mo 46 in Sddendum 3
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DOCUMENTATION

[2]

o]

[11.]

The Mission records deal with all three of the agreemants
agforementioned.  They also deal with & fourlh contract, Number
1030554, which related to pumps for which Ape Pumps had not
previously quoted™. The Mission's contact person at Ape Pumps was

Murphy.

The relevant contracts. for present purposes, are the fwo on which
kickbacks were allegedly paid: firstly, Contract Number 830775 ("the
Firsi Ape Pumps Confract”), and secondly, Contract Number 1020508

{"the Secohd Ape Pumps Conlract’). According to the matrix:

The First Ape Pumps Contract, which involved the sales of purmnps, was
valued at Swizs Francs 1, 655 234, It was deemed eligible for
payment by the 661 Committee on 17 October 2001, (Mission records
show that an official lefter of appraval was sent by courer to Ape
Fumps, on 23 October 2001.) The first hatch of goods was deliverad
on 24 May 2002, the second batch on 12 June 2002. The UN
completed authentication and treasury clearance of the first batch on

19 June 2002, The Mission reference number was 242/04/07.

k|

Zae Document Mumbers 47 and 48 in Addendum 2. Tha first is & letter, datao 13
March 2003 from the OF fo Cardy, quarying the price on ar apalieston which was
tairg processed by the QIF forthe ssle of a Horwontal Gentrifage Pump, where the
price was “sigriicanty figher than the przas for fhese goods prewously quoted”’, On
11 April 2002, Cardy informed Ape Pumps 1mal tha 63° Committes desmee this
cenirzct eligible for payvmeant

-H#5 -



[12]

[12.]

[14.]

[15]

The Second Ape Pumps Contract was valued at Euwo 348 344, It was
submitted to the OIF on 13 Decamber 2001, The Mission reference
number was 242/01/23. A missing sector tern code was supplied to
the QIP on 11 January 2002, The contract was deemed eligible for
payment on 13 March 2002, An approval letter was received by the
flission on 15 March 2002, A letier of credit was received on 24 June

2002. Payment in full was received on 12 March 2003,

The [IC provided the Commission with documentation in relation to
three contracts. They bear out the content of the matrix provided by

the Mission

The documents provided by Ape Pumps are more illuminating.
They establish that Ape Pumps knowingly pald kickbacks in

association with Mr Tony Davies ("Davies"),

Davies was the representative of Eastoft Hall Limited ["Eastof), Ape
Fump's agent, who was responsible for its tenders to the Iragis. |t is
guite apparent that by 23 August 2001, Davies had informed Ape
Fump's managing directer, Eric Bruggeman (*Bruggeman™), and their
marketing director, Alan Sternsdorf (" Stemsdor™ that a "10% technical
sehdve fee” had 1o be added to any pricing supplied 1o their agent by

Ape Pump's sales directar, Murphy™.

See Dozument Mo, 4% in &ddendm 5
- RA -




[16.]

[17.]

18]

On 17 Celoper 2001, Davies informed Ape Pumps that the First fpe
Furmps Cantract (for the delivery of pumps to the O Pipelines Co. in
Irag). had received UN approval™ To his letter he attached “bianik
coples of the bank and company guaranfees required to cover the
SHEF portion of the fransaction” that would need completion by Ape
Pump’s bankers in due course when they received a letter of credit
from BNF Paribas, the escrow bark. The Oil Pipelines Company

("LHf Pipelines”) was part of the Iragi Oil Ministry.

The guarantess constituted acknowledgement that Ape Pump's

bankers would pay Oil Pipelines an amount of money upon receipt of

the letter of credit from the escrow hank, and that the armount of the

undertaking would be paid in a currency to be advised by Oil Pipalines

into a bank account to be nominated by Oil Pipelines,

The exocution of the asforementioned guarantess involved direct
paymant to an Iragl stste institution. This was prohibited by
Resolution 661 and defeated the object of Resclution 3986, To the
extent that Ape Pump's bankers were regulated by South African
legislation or under gevernment control, the failure on South
Africa’s part to prohibit and reasonably prevent the lssue of such
guarantees (and more parficularly any payments made pursuant
theratc), may have viclated South Africa’s obligations to prevent

the payment of funds to the lragi regime of an Iragi Government

Sed Docurmant Mo, 50 in &ddendum 3
B iy



[19.]

[20]

[21.]

[22.]

instituticr., Suliable praventive banking regulstion iz requirsd

under South African law.
In the same fetter, Murphy was urged to liaise with the Mission to
ensure that the letter of credit was issued by the escrow bank and

received by Ape Pump's bankers as soon as possible.

On 4 Jaruary 2002, Bruggeman had assured the Dieclor-General of

the Oil Pipelines company that Ape Pumps were wsing their full

pressure to ensure that their obligation in respect of their 10% TEF”

due under Contract Mo. PLAAOSM4, was remitted to Qil Fipeline's

bank as soon as possible™. Bruggeman was therefore well aware of

the need to make illicit paymenis to the Iragis before Ape Pumps

delivered the first batch of goods fo them in May 2002

It is apparent from a complaint, mada on 11 July 2002 and directed o
Davies by Bruggeman, thal Aps Pump's personnel were never
permitted to speak directly to Ape Pumps custorners and that one,

“Sadik”, was used as Davies contact parson with the Iragis™.

On 24 June 2002, Davies informed Murphy by e-mail® (with reference
to letter of credit no, C7F31880 ana pursuant to the First Ape Pumps
Contract), thal unless arrangements were "put in place to cover the

10% sales lax deposit” by noon on 27 June 2002 Ape Pump's exsting

Technical Enginaarirg Fed.

See Docurest Mo 51in Adcendum 2.
See Document Me. E2 Ip Sddesdum 3,
Sae Dacument Me. £3 ir Addencum 2.
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coniracts would be canceled and pul oul for reissus. I appears that
Davies proposed that Eastoft should pay this ' 10% sales tax” in cash
directly to Ol Fipalines,  In his e-mail, Davies suggested thal Castolt
would make ithe payments and issue invoices to cover these
transactions with Ape Pump's written: agreement to repay Eastoft on

v oiging.

23] On 5 August 2002 Eastoft directed & letter to Murphy identifying tho
deduction of commission on an "engineernng senqce fee’ as an item of

disagreemant, which had baen resoived whean Brugaeman had agreed

io pay the TEF of Eurc 80, D00, and full 10% commission as saon as

Ape Pumps received money from the letter of credit™.

[24.]1 Murphy's answer to the [IC was thal Ape Pumps remained "vraware of
any frawd or corruphion, for the confracts that were awarded o us were
wan against Intermational tenders and we assume our offers wera the

best both commercially and fectinically’.

COMTRACT MUMEER 830775 {(THE FIRST APE PUMPS CONTRALCT)

NG DOCUMENTATION

[26.] HC documents show that this contract was based on an offer by Ape
Pumps, dated 19 June 2001, bearing reference number SE2806LP-

0. It also bore an "EFLF reference number PLICBZ3, The parties

" See Document Mo, 54 in Acdendum 3
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[26.]

[27.]

were Ape Pumps and the Economics and bnance Lepartmenrt Nimsiry
of Qil, Baghdad - Republic of Irag (*EFY). The and user was Ol
Fipelines, Daura — Baghdad — Iraq. The item solo was described as an
aglecirical and diesel driven pump for Ihe replacemenl of the end users
gxasting idle purmping sefs. The iotal value (CIP Baghdad, in Swiss
Francs was CHF 1, 655, 234 70, The contract was s gned by the sales

director of Ase Pumips, Slemsdor, on 27 August 2001%

[he IIC cdocuments include a side agreement, dated 2001, in which

referance s made to Contraci Mo, PLAOSES: (e to the First &

Pumps Contracl). It is headed "Subfec! 10% agreemert fafler sales

sandees)" The agresment was signed by Sternsdorf on behall of Aps

Paragraph 1 of this side agreement included an undedaking by Ape

Pumips viz. "“fo pay ol pipafines company an amound of {150 750 Swiss

francs) say, One Hundred Fity Thousand and Seven Hundred sixty

......

abovemeniionad conlract.” Paragraph 2 provided for 8 bank

guarantes within three wesaks of appraval of this coniract by the UN™

In answer to paragraph 20 of the Commissions summons, Ape
Pumps was reguested lo produce “any side agreementis)
conciuded Dy or on befiaff of fhe company in refaffon fo the main

contraci concluded by fhe company”. "None™, was the reply.

23

Zee Document Mo, &6 in Addendum &
See Document Ma, 56 in sddendur 5,
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28]

O 11 December 2001, BNP Panoas issusd the letier of cradil numbar
2731880 n favour of Ape Pumps and directed # to Ape Pumps
nankers, the Slandard Bank of soulh Africa Limiled, Johannesourng

South Africa. The amount was CHF 4, Bah. 234 709

DOCUNMENTS PROVICED BY APE PUMPS

291

8T

Irt answer ta Part 3 of the summons served on Apc Pumps on bekaly of
the Commissicn, the Commission reguested "sf documerntalion
relating o the amount of US § 23 460 AZSEF paid on Confract Mo,

830775, Ape Pumps provided the following:

291 Fustly, 8 customer advice from the Standard Bank indicating
thatl on 25 July 2002 a principal amount of Euro 67, 894 20 was
paid in Gouth Afmican rand (R 657 673.07) o a benaficiary. Mr

Firas lbrehim Obid Yaszin {* Ya=ir®) at the Arab Bank™,

292  Secondly, an undaled lelter directed by Murphy te the Standard
Bank which made reference to Contract Mo PLIEZ2 and letier
of credit number C/318%0. Certain documents were also
enclosed. ltem 13 referred to a *Copy of payment of the 0%

impor surcharge plus receiol™.

oo Dacumenl Mo, 57 in Addendurn 3.
Ser Document Mo, 58 in Addenoum S5
See Documoat Mo, 58 in Addendun 3.
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24,3

29.4

Thirdly, 2 letier. emanating frort the shipoing ine FE0 Nediloyd,
dated 25 May 2002, addressed to Eagle Freigh™ in which the
author. one Noan Faorrester, stated that he had "hean Hforrmead
fhat the fallowing docwnents for the sobject shipment are
reguired by cur Jebel Al office for customs purposes”. ltem &
provided as follows: "6, A proof of payment jcopy oy}l of the

10% affer-sales fax.

The author conlinues as follows! “the reason for pony no. 6, 1s

due fo our offfices mauining 8 proof of peyment of the 10% affer-

sales fax lewd (sic) on all shipmernts {o rag which are moved

under phase § omwards Pyl this is paid directly by the Shipper

fo fhe consignee, here the camier s not involved, however
shipments which have mot been paid will not be allowed lo
dscharge in Umm Qasr and will be refumed fo Jebed Al
Therafore any charges Involved in refurning cargo or any
additional cost for delays of the vesse! in lrag, wil be for the

shippers accownf’.

Fourthly, a letter, dated 28 April 2002, from Davies [(who s
describod as Ape Pumps "Middle tast Sales Manager),
addressed to PAD or the lelterhead of Ape Pummps™. In the
letter Davies said the follewing. “Mr Mumby from our head office
in South Afnca has asked e fo fax the oMozl receipt for the

0% sales fax relafing to owr shipmenst sgainst SO0

oo Docamon! M, G0 m Addendum 3.
LZee Document Mo, 81 in Addendum 3.

LBt



Fipalines rag confract number PLABAZ3 thal you Have requesied

in order to franshio the container to Umm Casre’.

2095 Fiftnly, a ielefax, dated 26 Aprl 2002, which Murphy had
directed to Eagle Freight. in which be had stated the foilowing:
‘Hiease find attached copy of office! receint of the 10% after-

sales fax from Irag.

Origival document s with the harbow master and copy has

baan given fo the clesrning agents™.

[30.] The incluctable conclusion is that a kickback of 150, TEQ Swiss
Francs was levied on the First Ape Pumps Contract, and that on
25 July 2002 Ape Pumps paid a furthor kickback, in the amouni of
Euroc 67, 894 20, to Oil Pipelines, which was part of the lragi Qil

Ministry at the time.

CONTRACT NUMBER 1030506 (THE SECOND AFE PUMPS CONTRACT]

G DOCUMENTS

[31.] A nolification of a reguest to ship the goods sold by Ape Pumps, is
dated 17 January 20027, [ refars to fne Mission reference number 2nd
bears a stamp to the effect that Ape Purnp's subrmission was receved

by the O on 13 December 2001, The exporter is reflected as Apa

i""' e Docuiment Mo B2 in Addenduom 3
H See Docornerd Mo, 83 and Docement Me. G4 0 Addendum 5
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[32]

Fumgas and the raceiving company as Oil Pipelines. The total value of
this contract is given as Euro 34, 344 20, The contract altached to this
notification describes the cliznl as the EFD Mirustry of Oil and the end
user a3 Morthemn Gas Industry NG| CNGF) with ils refererce numbe
NGHO39. The contract was signed on behalf of Ape Pumps on 27
Movembxer 2001 by the Middle East Sales Manager, who appears to be

Davies

Davies also signed a sine agresment on behalf of Ape Pumps which
related to "Conlracl No. NGETO..7. A handwritten addition to this side
agreement in the equivalant document provided to the Commssion by
Ape Pumps refers to NGHM0-38 (e, io the Becond Ape Pumps Contract.
In the side zgreement Ape Pumps declared its "ahligafion for payment
af {3, 123 Furg) say (three (rousand and one hundred twenty fhree
Euro only] as sendces hy issuing hank guaraniee lo cover the above
amount! after UN gporoval fmaxirmum fhree weelks from date of UM
approval. The payren! of the guarantee value fo be within thiny days

affor LN approvall™!

DOCUMENTE PROVIDED BY APE PUMPS

[33.]

On 12 August 2002, Standard Corporate and Merchant Bank (*SCME")
izsued a payment guarsntee in the amount of Euro 3, 122 20 1o NGI,
AS COMMISSION FOR ARRANGING THE CONTRACT AN

AMOUNT QF 10% {TEN PERCENT] OF THE CONTRACT 500 IS

Ser Donument Mo, 53 0 Addgesdem 2.
. l1:|.-‘| ’



[5=]

'.r':hl

FPAYABLE TG MESSRS NCORTH GAS COMPANY™. A sids

agreement™, endorsing this guarantes, was attached

A wear earlier, on 23 August 2001, Davies had telefaxed Bruggeman
and Sternsdorf and attached the Socond Ape Pumps Contract after it
had been signed by [ne respective parties. He staled that the anginal

would be senl to Ape Pumps by courier, "with a cooy™ senl o our

agehi in New Yonk that spegiglises in the workings of fhe comidars of

power ai tho United haticns,

You are aware of fhe 10% “echnical service fee" added fo our

cormmercial offer from oricing sunplied fom Dave Mumnhy.

The next stzoge 15 o pressnt the onging! contract through the Souwih

Afvican Export Trade Deparfmant o the Soufh African Mission o the

tnited Malions in Mew York togather with 8 compigfed applicabion form

which s abtained from the U website®, (emphasis supplied)

It iz appaErent that Devies was awara that an illicit paymant in the
form of a bribe was involved in the transaction and that he
communicated this to the directors of Ape Pumps. To the extent
that thie form of bribery was known, and withheid from the
Dopartment of Trade and industry and the Mission, fraud may

have been commitied. However, Murphy's denial of unlawful

Sog Docummen Mo, S8 in Addendon 3
Sea Dooument Mo, &7 in Addendum 3
Sod Docurment Mo, §8 i Addenduare 3.
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[26.]

[37.]

[28]

intent on tha part of Ape Pumps parl that is contained i his

abovementioned letter to the IS would constituie a defance.

The manner in which Davies implemented the side agreement was
by infiating the technical amount tendered by Ape Pumps. This is

ilfusirated in the decumentation. it is also admitted by Murphy.

Cn 1% Sepiember 2001, Ape Pumps direcled a tender lo Davies for
purpose of transmission o the Morth Gas Co ™ The tendar was signed

by Murphy and was sent by telefax to Eastoft.  The tender related 1o

the supply of two Ape PumpsiHawk purmps. The orice basis quoted

was in Euro, ©.1.F Baghdad and included 10% commission and 5% for

a techrucal traming fund. In the schedule aftached to the specifications

the total price in Euros amounted to Bure 31, 222, 8w items were

described and each was priced in Cures (o reach this tolal.

acocordance with a Memorandum of Undersfanding MOU FPhase 10,

signed befween the Government of irag and United Nafions”, to the

Commercial Commiitee ot the NG The propesal was on an Ape
Fumps leflerhead and bore the recipient's reference number
104032001 Ape Pumps reference numboer was 244210012210, The

total price in Euros was Euro 34, 344 20,

Soe Devument No, 4% in Addendum 2.
See Document Mo, 7O Acdendum 2
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(9]

[40.)

[47.]

[42.)

[43.]

Each of the six itams on the price sched:de had been inflated by
10% to reach this tetal, which apparently made provision for both
the agent's commission, the {curious) “5% technical training

Fund”, as well as the kickback provided for in the side agreement,

The proposal provided that payment should be confirmed via |etter of
cradil issued by BNP Mew York and advised through Siandard Bank,
Briuma Lake, Republic of South Africa. The account details were also

given. The account number was 421550775 Ape Pumps retained tho

discretion io change the advising bank.

on 17 September 2002, BNP Paribas issued z letler of credil
numbered TF37095 in favour of Ape Pumps, care of their bankers, the
Standard Bank of South Africa Limited, Joehannesburg in the amount of

Euro 34, 344 20,

g Lt

Furmps that related 1o & paviment made by the bank from ther account

1o the bensficiary MGI at the lztier's banlk, wWe, Fafadian Bank, Amman,

Jordan, A pringipal amount of Eure 3. 123 (valued on 8 January 20030

was transterred fo the benshiciary from customer sccount number

421560775

The payment was precipitated by 8 request on a |etterhead of Esslof,

made or 7 January 20032, giving the details of the payment and siating,

Soe Document Mg, 71 in Addenduorm 2.
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{44 ]

[45.]

[46.]

wter aha, the followinn:  *Technical Senvices fee in respect of ! hid

Party rolating to_confragt number NGETGA2E™  The document was

stamped by the Standard Bank on ¥ January 2003 and the exchangz

was fully proviged for.

On 23 Jsnuary 2003 Clover Cargo [nternational ("Clowver”), the

had been submitted o lrag customs in Jebel Al would only be

approved ‘agawst the 10% fo load the conlainer, thus the reason they

(Maersk the Shipming Company carrving the goods) could not give us

specific shipping details”.

It is therefore apparent that the pumps sold under this contract
could not be cleared for landing in rag withowt proof of payment

of the kickback.

On 18 Fsbruary 2003, Murphy direcled a telefax to Rafadian Bank"®

is apparent that Murphy visiled the bank on 5 February 2003 with

reference o this payment. In this letter he requested an afficial receipt.

It is also apparent that he had made g similar request o the bank by
telefax on 17 January 2003 when he had directed proct of payment to

them™',

Sea Documant Mo, 72 in Addendam 2,
Gee Document Mo, T3 in Addendum 3.
Ses Cocumernt Ma. 74 in Addendem 2.
Seg Documerd Mo, V5 in Addendum 3.
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[47.3

[48.]

(49 ]

Similarly, on 9 Janeary 2003, one Kim De Viliers directed A telafax to
Standard Bank on behalf of Ape Pumps'™. It 1s apparent frorn her letier

that the management of Ape Pumps beleved thal the pumps could nat

be landed in lrag untl Ape Pumps had paid "the 10% impod didy” and

Standard Bank had not sent this

On 18 February 20035 ane Ausha Moodley an Account Analyst al
Standard Bank receivod a copy of a reply from Deutsche Bank
corfirming that the amount of Euro 3, 123 had been credited to NGIs

account at Rafadian Bank on 16 January 2003'™

in the circumstances it is clear that the NGI, which fell under the
control of the Iragi Ministry of Qil, levied a kickback of Euro 3, 123
on the Second Ape Pumps Contract and that this was paid to NGI

on 13 January 2003,

e METHCDOLOGY {THE ROLE OF AGENTS IN THE PAYMENT QOF

KICKBACKS)

500

51.)

For purposes of the Commission's investigation and
recommendations, understanding the role of agemts in the

payment of kickbacks under the PFrogramme i fundamenial.

in reply to the Commussicn's regquest for copies of agresments

concluded with agents in relalion 1o the OFFP, Ape Pumps producad

1Al
(11 k)

Sae Dooument Moo 76 in Adoendum 3.
Soe Docurnert Mo, 77 In addendum 3.
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[52.]

(53]

two  agresments,  _The frst one was concloded withh Eastof,
represented by Davies" Tho sscond was cencluded with T alcon

represented by Hemphill'™.

On & September 2000, Bruggeman signed a marketing representative
agreement with Easioft, whose principal place of business was in
Scunthorpe, England.  Davies signed the agresment on behalf of
Fastoft on 28 January 2001 In lerms thereof, Aps Pumps appainted
Eastoft o be its exclusive representative to obtain orders from
customers in lrag. The agreement came into force on 1 September
2000, Easlofl's obligation, infer afia, included a duly 1o estabiish
appropriate office facilities in Irag and o inferm Iragi purchasaers that all

orders would be placed directly with Ape Pumps

Fastoft would bacome enlifled to commission payments following the
conclusion of walid sales contracts, once Ape Pumps had received tha
full purchase price agreed to in the sales contract at a raie specified in

part 2 of schedule 1 of the marketing agreement. Part 2 provided that

the commission would be agreed and nol ex-works conltract value”

Clause 6.4 provided that Eastoft agreed to abide by all laws applicable

by England and lrag and undertook ‘nof fo make any paymenis of

onbes, fuckbacks, pohtical confributions, or ofber prohibided pavments

cuf of ihe commission fhat it (inight) receive ynder this agresmeant®.

Sae Dooument Mo, 78 in sddencdorm 2.
Sol Document Me, 78 in addendum 3.
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[54.]

[55.]

1561

[57.]

58]

It iz zpparent tat @ dispute arose oul of this Esue.  Prohibited
payments oul of commission were subyect to the canceliation of clausc

4

On 8 October 2002, Ape Pumps terminated its relationship with Castoft

for failing te desl with Ape Pumps ‘openly and honestly, a doty which

hed been brazched on varous occasions”

agency agreement; this time with the Falcon Trading Group S5A Ltd

andfor Falcon Commodily Trading (Piy)l 1td  (The contract in identical

terms had been signed on behalf of Falcon on 15 Octcher 2002 by

person whose signature differs from that of Hemphill. |

The firstmentioned company i= the one of which Hemphill deniss
any knowledge of in the pending litigation. The second is the one
which he admits recent involvement in. The commencement date

of this agency agreemeant was 2 December 2002,

Falcon was sppointed sole and exclusive distributor of Ape
Pump's products within lrag. Although the undertaking
constituted “the entire agreemeni beiween the parfies” and
provided that “rro ferms nol contained in Ure agreement’’ would ke
pinding on the parties, no provision was made for tho payment of

commissicn thereln.
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Fimally it is significant that on 1 November 2000, Ape Pumps haa

appointed Salman Kannsn Bureaw of Baohdad 2s =ole sgent for the

sale of thair range of pumps A commissicn of cne percent (1%) of the

contract value would be "paid fo the company' (O suppor operating
cogsis ™ Cvidently the Buresu was the contact person with the Iragi

TECIME.

COMMISSION PAIL

[60.]

[E1.]

10

In response to the Commission’s summaons, Ape Pumps acknowledged
pavimenl of commission on three contracts wz, PLMOEZS, NGIAD2D
{the Second Ape Pumps Contract) and SOCH0M08. That is, it was
suggested that no commission was paid on the First Ape Pumps
Contract. However in a letler sent ty Easto’t on 18 March 2002, which
served as a commercial invoice 7H-960/BTG, Eastofl claimed Fure 60,
Q00 from Ape Pumps; as & lechnical sarvice fee in respect of
"supervisor enginesring cosfs” relating o Contract No. PLIOSM4, as

agreed on 14 August 2001

On 2 July 2002 Eastoft invoiced Ape Pumps {commaercizl invoice

FSMOBCIZTY) in the swn of Swiss Franc 75 238, being 0% of the

commission due against latter of credit no. V31890 refating to Conlract

Mo, PLAMOSM4E.  (This letter of credt relalsd o the First Apa Pumpe

Coniract)  1he invoice was received by Standard Bank on 1 August

2002

Soe Docamaenl Mo, B0 n sdoendum 3,
P I



(B2 ]

[62 ]

64

On 30 July 2002, Ape Purcps directed Standard Bank o pay R 2E2

Fasiofl's account at the Midland Bank on 2 August 2002,

On 19 July 2002, Davies informed Sternsdorl by e-mail that a final
balance due under a letter of credit in he amount of Swiss Francs 805,
77 BD would be credited to Ape Pump’s account st Standard Bank
with a walue date of 22 July 2002 In the e-mail Davies requested
Stermnsdorf o make the payment of Eastoft's commission for value in

Ezslof’s account by 26 July 2002 "so fhal my lragi associales receive

payment from EHL before the end of July™™

It is possible therefore that kickbacks over and above the ASSF
{which was paid direcily to the Iragis by Ape Pump’s bankers),
had to be paid cut of Eastofi's commission, i so, this kickback

was probably ITF.

INLAND TRANSEPORTATION FEES ({ITF}

[65.]

I item & of its summons, the Commission reguested all documentation
relating to the amount of US $ 3, 830, paid for ITF on the Firsi Ape
Pumps Confract,  Ape Pumps responded by providing  certain
documenrts which appear o be legiimate. They relats (o carfizgs in

Soulh Affica and marine rsurance.  Withouwt guestioning the

See Document Mo, 81 0 addendum 3
- 103 -



[BE.]

[B7.]

jLey

([

directors of Ape Pumps, the Commigsion cen reach no conclusion
az to whether er not ITF was peaid on the First Ape Pumps

Contract.

Hem 10 in the summons was couched in similar teims lo lem S, but in
rolation to the Second Ape Pumps Contract and an alleged payment of
ITF in the amourt of US $ 600, Tax invoices and sea freight estimales
from Clover Cargo Iniernaticnal, freighting agents, were provided to the

Cammission.  These documents refer to camage to Kirkuk from the

oort. Umm Quasr, the port where the pumps wers landed. The tee was

US § 9 75855 approximately one quarier of the total carriage
charged™. Hall of tha total went towards ocean freight.  The
Commission is net in a8 position t¢ conclude that the
transportation fees by land Lo Kirkuk were unreascnable and/or

inflated.

The only other relevant document is an e-mail dated 25 February 2003,
which was directed by the container shipping line, MAERSK 1o

Ciowver™, Therein the consignee was urged to ensure thal the cargo

had been processed and clearsd with the lraql Slale company Tor

Water Transporl. This company was Involved in the collection of

ITF.

Ser Dorumeant Mo, B2 in Addendusn 3
Sce Docwment Moo 53 in Addendumn 3,
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IC METHODOLOGY (THIRD AND FOURTH AGREEMENTS)

(B8]

|65.]

[70.]

[71.1]

10
111
iz

The IC Tables and the Annexure'", suggest that Ape Pumps
concluded three contracis of which two were tainted by the levy of

ASSF. These conclusions are incofrect.

Eoth the Mission and 1IC records contain decuments relating 1o a fourih

contract numbered 1030684  The documents provided oy the IIC

contain &n amendment to tis contract (Wz. Irag Contract KMo
SOCHQM 08 on which Ape Pumps paid commission to Davies), dated 9

January 2002, An amendment was signed by Davies on & October

2003, and specilically provides for the removal of ASSFE, making the

amended contract total Euro 525, 000 after reduction of Euro 52 500

froim the original confract value of Eure 577, S00™

Similary Contract Ne. 1030280 (also identified as Iragi Contract No.

—anm.

when [Davies signed the amendment' It too provided for a reduction

"by Eurg 12 270 fo remove fhe after sales service fee maing the

amended Condract tots) Euro 122, 7207 The original contract valus

was Eurg 134, 992,

Kickbacks wers therefore levied on the twe contracls aforementioned,

but were never paid

To the Scheduls to the Cumimission's lerms of referance,
Soee Documonl Mo, 84 in Addendum 3.
Zee Dnnument Mo, B5 inAdaendum 5,
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COMC LUSION

[72]

[73.]

In the clrcumstances there can be no doukbkt that Ape Pumps paid
ASSF in the amounts of Eurn 67, 894.20, ¢ the account of the
iraqi's agent, Yassin, via Arab Bank, on Contract No. 820775, and
Eurc 3, 122.20, to NG| on Contract No. 1030506. Nor is there any
doubl that ASSF werz levied in the amounts of Eure 52, 500, on
Centract No. 1030554, and Eurc 12, 270, on Contract No. §
1020290, respectively. The probabilities suggest that the
directers and managament of Ape Pumps agreed to pay these
kickkacks andior were aware that they were included in the
agreed sales prices which were conveyed te the Mission and the

CiP.

The allegation made by the (IC to the effect that Ape Pumps paid
ITF in relation to the Second Ape Pumps Contract is probably
correct, but ne firm conclusion can be reached as to whether the

amount was US § 600,



PART G

ANALYSIE OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTATION RELATING TO REYROLLE

[1.]

[2.]

[3.1

[4.]

hission and |IC documents establish that Reyrolle concluded thres
contracts under the Programme. Oiher evidence of the activities of
Reyrolle in the Programme is illusive and was obfuscated by a

company restructuring.

A oompany search revealed that FReyrolle was registered in South
Africa, It started husiness during 1946, 1t was a public company which
was later placed under voluntary liquidation. In the circumstances the
Commission scught to establish the whereabouts of the records kept

by Reyralle.

The Cammission was constrained to rely on the voluniary assistance of
Mr Craig Holden ("Holden™), the Operational Director of anotner
company, ABB South Afrca (Pty) Lid ("AB8%. Holden was a former
"dircctor' of Reyrolle, but was not involved in the Programme. As a
result of Holden's assistance, the Commission obtained and perused

documentation in the archives of ABB.

Holden pravided the Commission with four files. While this report was
being prepared, ABB discovered nine other files in their archives which

they have offered scruting of at their premises.  These documents

R E s e



[8]

[2]

[10.]

Griffiths fcld the Chaiperson that he was unaware of any of the
allegations made by the |IC, to the effect that Reyrolle had paid
kickbacks to the lragis. Griffiths also seemed to be unaware of the

existence of any agents through whom Reyrolle might have contracted.

Though the Commission found no indication of such agents through

the documentation made available by the IIC and the Mission

documentation provided by ABB indicates that Reyrolle used an agent

and that the agent's commission was inflated.

It is therefore crucial o acquire and analyse every document
which was in Hayrelle's pozse=zsion during the Programme and to
compel Griffiths, Upton and Pritchard to provide the Commission

with evidence under oath.

The archives of ABB revealed a "Cooparafion and Agoncy Agreament
["the Agency Agresment’ )™ that Reyrolle had concluded. The paries
named therein were Reyrolle, a division of NMEI African Operations
Limited {"WNE[), a South African company with its registered office at
Ristone Office Park, 15 Sherborne Road, Parktown, Johannesburg,
and Winter International {"Winfer'). a company existing under
Jordanian law with its registered office al Building Mo 91, Nablus
Street, Amman, Jordan, The agreement was signed on 24 July 2000,

by Upton on behalf of Reyrolle. On € Aoguet 2000, it was signed in

See Documeant Ke 88 in Addendum 3
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[11.]

[12.]

[13]

[14.]

114
1~

Amrnan by Wirter's General Manager, Mr AM Jahon {"Jaboi), on

behalf of Winter.

infroduced to Reyrelle by the Mission in Jordan.

According to South African law, 2 division is not a legzl person.
For domeastic purposes NE[ was the principal. Priichard informed
Winter in a letter that although Reyrolle wae part of the NE! Group,

it operated as an individual company with its own bank account'™.

In terms of the Agency Agreement, Winter was nominated as the
principal's agent for three years and would be paid a commission of
15% of contract value (subject to the approval of the South African
Fezerve Bank). In terms of Clause 6 thereof, the agent would be
responsible for the remuneration of any third party after the principal
had approved a contract  Winter was authorised to negotiste and

cohciude confracts on behalf of ts principal in terms of Clause 2.

It is apparant that Winter had represented Reyrolle well before the
conclugion of the Agency Agreement. In a letter dated MNovernber

1999, a director of Winter, AS Sulaiman {"afaiman’), urged Upton to

take immediate action "fo sef vour proposal to Kimadia jthe lragi Haalth

Minisfer] in order to avoid mishandling"'®. At that stage a proposed

sales contract (Mo. 77/99/E71) had been signed by Kimadia on behali

Sed Decwument BMa. 87 [n Addendum 3
Se= Documen: MWa. 88 in Addendurn 3,
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[15.]

[16.]

eff the lragis. The origingl had been handad to Prtchard for Reyrolle's
approval and signature.  Pritchard had given a draft of the Agency

Agreament to Winter.

By the time that this agreement was finally coencluded, it seame (o
have acquired UN Contact Number 801682, The contract waz
sulimitted to the OIP by the South African Missicn on & Dacember
1989, The Mission's raference numbaer was 242/2. Evan before
the formal imposition of ASSF, the lragi Ministry of Health

demandad a bribe before it would contract with Reyralle.

On 7 November 1982 one A Hassan {"lMassan™), a Regional Manager
of YWinter, had wrilten o Uplon reguesting that consideration should be
given to the Iragis in liew of "a heavy discount' for the project. Such
consideration inciuded the following:

i Mini bus which will cost (810, 000.00) len housand dolisrs.

2 2 (Penlivm 3| computers with their prmtars vdiich will cost (% 3,

S000) thres thousand five hundred doliars.

3. One affice fumiture which will cost (§ 3, 000 three thousand

doflars"



[17.]

[18.]

[18.]

[20.]

1.5
147
il

This demand had been made in writng by the import manager of the

“Winistry of Healfin"™, In his letler Hassan added: “As this /s your first

conlfract in lrag we believe thal you need to safisfy your chenls.  Your

immediate action is appreciafed”. A handwritten note on this letler

sigpests that Reyvrolle's management were inclined to increase the

commission “on a shared basis, and we give 10K . and they aive

E.5K".

On 12 Novembar 1999, Pritchard wrote to Winter ¢onfirming that an

amount of US § 15, 000.00. was to be provided by Reyrolle, on the

cost of contractual facilities on Contract No. 77/a&626"

On 22 Movember 1589, Hassan wrote 1o Pritchard informing him that
another order of US & 800, 000.00, would be awarded to Reyrolle by
the Ministry, "so we gol lo please therm. Hassan was thinking of
"naying and sending fhe car now instead of (Prtchard), vnti the

apnroval of the United Mations on fhis cornfract'"™,

In a telefaxed letler, dated 5 June 2000, and directed by Pritchard to
AS Sulaiman, Pritchard stated that [as a result of the bribery). Reyrolle
were “now gelting a very low margin figure on the contracls. fiowavar
in hoth our interest we are able fo give you an additional secondary
commission of 5% increasing the fotal commission to 20%".  The

subject of this letter was the "Medica! Cify Contract™™,

Sae Document Mo 82 0 Addendam 3,
See Document Mo, 500 Addendum 3.
Soo Decumen: Mo, 81 in Adaonduem 3
Sea Docurmant Mo, %2 in Addencum 3
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[21.]

(221

[24.]

[24.]

Griffiths informed the Chairperson that Pritchard and Upton had visited

by the South African Mission in_Jordan. He said that the supply,

delivery and installation of the high voltage electrical swilch gear
supplied by Reyrolle to the Ministry of Health, was supervisec by
Griffiths and Pritchard. He also said that contracts were submitted by

Reyrolle directly to the lragis.

ABE dozuments show that the lazi statomant was falsea.

On 2 July 1998, Grffiths drafted a statement of an apparent offer to the
Ministry of Health for the Medical City Substation, which Griffiths
directed to a DOr A Shlash at Winter, He stated the following @ "As

previous guoles, we have included an undisclosed commission of 5%

(five percend) on the FCA Roures for voursefves'. This undiscloged

5% was made availabie before the advent of genaral 10% ASSF.

The documentation provided by the lIC and the Misslon raises
sugpicion, but iz inconclusive in relaticn to the contract under
revviawr in tarms of the Commission’s terms of reference. Cardy at
tha Missicn and officials at the Mission in Jordan should be

interviewed, in this ragard.

114 -



HE ALLEGATIOHS

[£5]

[26.]

[27.]

(6.

[29]

1
12

=

122

NG allegations relating to Reyrolle accord with the Annexure to the
Schedule, Table § lists the Mission country as South Africa™ The
goods supplied under three contracts were allegedly made up of
medical equipment, parts thersof and spare parts. The contract face
valus was US 5 3, 758, 45, The contract disbursements amounted to

US § 3, 759, 034. Thase conclugsions were based entirsly on IC

projections. They are unhelpful,

Table 7 alleges thet one contract gualified''. The face value thersof
was US § 1, 848, 246. This corresponds with contract dishursements.

ASEF was levied and paid in the amount of US § 168, 0232,

Table B alleges that, during Phaze & and under Contract No. 800993

{"the illicit Reyrolle Contracl), spare paris were sold and ASSF was

paid, The contract and disbursement values were hoth US $§ 1, 848,

245, ASSFE was levied in the amount of US § 168, 022" This was a

projected value based on Government of Irag pelicy documents. Om

this basis the IC also determined the projected ASSF that was paid.

Reyrolle did not respond to the allegations made by the 1IC.

On 13 December 2000. the OIP queried Revrolle's application for

approval of the illicit Reyrolle Contract. It appeared that not all the

NS Table G pRge 142 of 192, Dacumenl Mo, 83 in Addendum 3
1 Table 7 oage 129 of 100, Cacument Mo, 84 0 Addendum 5
IZ Table B: page 285 of 387, Documert Mo 85 0 Addendum 3.
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[30]

[21.]

1%
12c
125
136

[EN

gonds 1o be shipped to lraq had been listed in Reyrolle's application.
This query was directed wWa Dormehl at the Mission™, Cardy directed

Griffith's reply to the GIP on the following day'®. The number of tems

of which Griffiths is aware appears fo be fewer than the number of

items referred to in the contract. These discrapancies raize & query

as to whether or not sale items were falsely added to the contract

presentad to the UN in order to inflate the price.

Documertation provided to the Commission by ABB, includes a letter
of credit (number CT26300)'*, which was izsued on 15 March 2007 by
the escrow bank to Abss Bank, Braamfontein Johannesburg, whore it
was received and stamped on 11 April 2001, The amount was U5 51,
848, 24560, Motification thereof was given to Griffiths on 12 April
20017, This letter of credit was issued at the reguest of the lragi
Ministry of Health, State Company for Drugs and Medical Appliances in

favour of Reyrolle {and not NEI).

A contract in this amount™ (probably the illicit Reyrolle Contract), had

been signed (above a stamp stating that Reyrolle was a division of

MEIY, by & person whose signature appears to be identical to the

signature of one withess to the Agency Agdreement The contract was

signed in Baghdad. It bears a date of 28 June 2000. The subject
matter of the =ale as listed in the contract included the sale and

installation of a stepdown transformer and & complete highvoliage

Sea Document Mo 96 in Addendum 2.
Ses Documant Mo, 97 in Addendur 3,
ez Decurnent Me, 55 in Addencum 3
Bee Document Mo 59 0 Addendum 3
See Document Mo, 00 in Addendarn 3.
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[32]

[33]

[34.]

substation, a mediun voliage switchboard, a Busways 5000 amp rsting
as well as a Busways 1600 amp rating.  All the itemms werg soid with
spare parls. The purchaser was the Siate Company for Marketing
Drugs and Medical Appliances. The lragi “hdent No" on this contract

was 77/2000/516.

An addendum. dated 28 October 2000, signed by Upton, converted the

amenablz to ASSF).

On & August 2000, Jabon signed a document headed "Suppiament fo

Confract Mo (77/2000/516)°, in which he purported to amend the

Aagency Agreement by providing that a commission of 20% of contract

value be paid to Winter, instead of 15%. The two parties agreed that

“Contraciual facilifies of US § 31, 082.00", would be paid to Winter =, It

is apparent that Reyrclle agread to pay Winter an Inflated
commissicn on the illicit Reyrolle Contract, which bore Contract

Mo, 7H20000516, in the records of the lragi Ministry of Health,

On 12 August 2000 Al-Jabori invoiced Reyrolle (care of Pritchard). in
the amount of US § 74 18430, being commission for the
aforementioned contract’™. The amount was to be remitted to the

account which Winter held at Union Bank, Amman. The invoice staled

that the commission congtituted & first and second partial payment for

120

12z

Seo Nooument Mo 401 in &ddardum 2.
See Docurant Moo 102 inAdderdum 3.
See Document Moo 103 in Addesdum 3.
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[35]

the cantract and that a balance of US § 252, 260.62, would have to be

paid within 30 days "after the drawn down aof the LA

Tha tetal commission that Winter claimed, In the order of twenty
per cent of the original contract, was excessive. The excess may
well have been intendad for tranamission nte an account held in

Jordan for the Iraqi Ministry of Health.

MISSION RECORDS

[36]

[37)]

Mission records relate to three contracts, In the matrix the slalus of
each contract is referred to, The contact person at Reyrolle was

Cariffiths.

The ilicit Reyrolle Contract is recorded as involving the sale of
electrical goods in the amount of US § 1, 848, 245 The status was
“naid in full”.  Site remedial work was pending. The contract was
apparently approved on 21 February 2001. A letter of credit was
issuad on 15 March 2001, Partial payment was secured. There were
problems with final installation. The lragis refused to cerlify installation
because the equipment did not work. Reyrolle claimed that the
problem lay with the Iragi electricity network, which fell outside the
scope of the contract™.  The lragi Ministry of Health was reluctant o

sign oft on the contract.  The company informed the kission that it hag

Sae 3hifiths plea to the Mission ‘ur assistance inoa letter 1o Cardy, dated 10 June
2002 Dozurmant Mo, 104 in Addendum 3.
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[38.]

[39.]

[40]

been paid in full. The company was committed to returning for site

rermnedial work when security permitted.

focording to the matrix, two other confracts were also concluded by
Reyrolle. These are recorded as having involved identical amounts of

US § 1, 848, 245,

Contract No. 801683 was approved on 7 June 2000. WMo further
information is given on the matrix. Contract No. 801682 was approved
on 12 June 2000, On & April 2003, the company informed the Mission
that it had been paid in full. The company was committed fo returning
for site remedial work when security permitted.  This was the contract
in respect of which Reyrolle had agreed o pay & bribe to the Iragi

Health Minlatry during 1999,

The existence of three identical =ale prices for the Feyrolle contracts,
and the absence of relevant information raise a doubt sbout the
correctness of the information recorded on the matrix. In the file there
was a similar dearth of information and documentation relating Lo the
illicit Reyrolle Contract. The Cormmission was therefore bound to seek

ihe cooperation of ABB on an informal basis.
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[41.]

Documeniation provided to the Commission by the IC is more
illuminating than the Mission documents. U also raizes more

guestions.

Confract Mumber 300883 {"The Micii Reyrofle Cantract™)

[42.]

[43.]

[44.]

122

The IC documentation shows the following. The application to ship
goods to Irag was subrmilted by the Mission on 7 December 2000, and
approved by the OIP on 13 February 2001, The goods included
various transformers. a Cutler Hammer, 1800 Amp Busbar Trunking,
an ABB Powertech DOry type stepdown fan, 8 medium voitage
switchhoard, Busways 16000 and 5000 Amp Ratings, and a complete

High Voltage Substation'™,

The goods were to be installed in a medical city substation for the
Saddam Medical Complex in Baghdad. The tofal value was US § 1,
B4B, 245.80. The price included a warranty. The purchaser was the
Ministry of Health, The registration date was 7 Decernber 2000. The

Mission reference number was 24219

Although the Reyrelle stamo appears on the contract and the
addendum, the signature of the seller's representative does not appear

to be the signature of Prichard. i.e. as it appears on the other two

Lee Malice and Natificatinn Document Mo, 105 in Addendum 3.
-11% -



[45.]

[46.]

[47.]

Fayrolle coniracis,  In those two contracts, Prtchand also printed his
name beside his signature. However, Pncharg's signature, without his
printed name as it usually appeared on Reyrolle’s contracts, seems to
appear at the fool of four of the six ikems on a schedule Lo the contract.
Mone of these documents appears o bear a clear sighature of the
Director-Gaenaral of the State Company for Orugs and Marketing who
represented the purchaser. The identity of the signatory of the illicit

Reyrolle Contract needs to be established with certainty.

Similarly, the order form for this contract bears a signature resembling

Fritchard’s {but without his printed name).

The purchase price was o he paid in tems of letier of credit no.
C726300". The goods arrived in Irag on 30 January 2002 angd 9
Movermnber 2002™, Two instalments of US § 1,617, 64004, and US &
230, 805, were pad by the escrow bank, on 21 February and 4

December 2002 respectively™.

in the above circumstances it is apparsnt that Reyrolle's
confraciuzl relationghip with the lragi Ministry of Health involved
bribery and corruption from the outset. The Wlicit Reyrolla
Contract fell inte & phase when the Iragis did exitract ASSF. It
seems that by this time Reyrolle had declded o pay the iragiz in
contravention of Resolutions 661 and 986 by inflating the agent's

commizsion. On the bazis of the documeniztien, = strong

134
b L

Sea letter of cradit: Document Mo, 106 in &ddandem 3,
Sea Documant Ma. 167 in sdcendam 3.
Ses G payment resands for thosa dates, Docorment Mo, 108 i Addendum 3
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[4d.]

|49.]

Health, of the kind ceniemplaied by the Commisgion’s terms of

refarence.

it therefore becomes necessary to exarcise the Commission's
unchallenged powers, vested by section 3 of the Act to guestion
Griffithe, Upton and Pritchard so as fo determine whether or not

the ASSF dascribad in the Commizsion’s ferme of reference wars

pai.

Without this exerclse two conclusions can be reached. Firatly, the
commission of 20% that was pavable to Winter on the contract
price of the illicit Reyrolle Cantract, was extracrdinarily high. This
commission zllowed roem for both the payment of kickbacks of
10% er mara (on the amount paid by the escrow account), as wal|
2= for agent's commission (arising from ihe services which Wintar
was required tc provide in terms of the agency agreement).
Secondly, the course of conduct of Revrolle prier to the execution
of the Illlclt Reyrolle Contract revealed that its management and
agents were willing and able to pay bribes demanded by the Irag!

Ministry of Haalth,

T 2 1



PARTH

ANALYSIE OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTATION RELATING TO GLAXO

WELLCOME

[1.]

The investigation of Glaxe Wellcome was fettered entirely by the
inability of the Commission to use its powers, the shelter which Glaxo
Wellcome received from the pending ltigation, the nature of the
relationship between the international Glaxo companies, as well as a

restructuring of the local company.

IS FINDINGS

(2]

[2]

[4.]

Table 6 reflects that Glaxo Wellcome concluded one contract for the
zale of medicine to Irag. The Mission Country was South Afnica. The
contract face value was WS § 243 241, The contracl disbursement
value was US § 218, 194, Evidence of illicit payments is based antiraly

on projections,

Table 7 reflects that ASSFE in the amount of US § 22, 113 was levied of

which US % 19, 836 was paid.

Table 8 refiects that the projected ASSF levied was based on
Government of Irag policy documents and that the paymaent made was
also kased on such documents, The contract in question was

concluded during Phase B and baore the UN number B02557.

RN .



[5.]

6]

71

Glaxe Wellcome falled to respond to these allegstions.  Simila
allegalions were made against Glaxo Wellcorne Export Lid [Wission
Country France: United Kingdom), Glaxo Wellcome Egypt S.AE
(Wission Couniry Egypt) and GlaxoSmithKline Wallshouse {Mizsion

Country United Kingdaormn}).

It is spparent that Glaxo Wellcome is part of a multi-national
corporation,  One person, Fadia Adnan ("Adnan), signed botn the
contract Under investigation as well as the contracts for Glaxo
Smithkline SPA (Contract No. 1579), Glaxo Wellcome (Egypt), Glaxo
Wellcome Export Limited and Glaxe Welicome ltaly. Cooperation by
persons beyond the temitorial jurisdiction of the Commission may be

necessary to make an interview with Adnan possible.

Official documents proved to be entirely innocuous.

MISSION RECORDS

[8.]

The matrix refiects thal Contract No. 802557 was approved by the 661
Committee on 5 June 2001 and that Glaxo Wellcome was notified
thereof on 6 June 2001, A letter of cradit was received by the company
in January 2002, The subject of the sale was angized lablets. The

contract price was Euro 271, 700, The contact person was s

Elizabetn Visser (*Wisset").  Johannesburg telephone and teletax

contast numbers (wiz. 011 — 313 6373 and 011 « 213 6315), were
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(21

[10]

[11]

given, Howevar, the g-mail contact address given was apparently n

the United Kingdom viz. eev30B4 9@ GlaxoWellcoms. couk.

The matnx reflects the conclusion of two further contracts, also for the
sale of angised tablets {the "second’ and "thind' contracts").  The
second contract involved GlaxoSmithKline (Contract No. 1200477).
The contracl price was Euro 518, 07527 (Thiz was a “prionty
cortract”)  The third contract [Contract Mo, 1300378) also involved

GlaxoSmithkline. The contract price was Euro 188, 366.30.

The entry dealing with the second contract refers in brackets to Glaxo
Wellcome. The Mission reference was 2420208, This was submitted

to the QIP on 17 September 2002, It was deemad non-compliant on

24 Septernber 2002 due to 2 discrepancy over the company name (viz.

whether it was Glaxo Wellcome or GlaxoSmithKline).

However, it was deemed eligible for payment by 14 November 2002, It
was approved on 7 February 2003, but needed an amendment curing
August 2003, At that stage the Waorld Health Organisation contracted
on behalf of Irag. This suggesis that the =econd contract may criginally
have been subject to ASSF. The contact perscn was Ms Georgina
Gordon  {"Gordor™), who had different  contact numbers  n

Johannesburg to those of Visser above.



[12.]

[13]

[14.]

[15.]

The third contract had the same contact numbers. The contact person
was Ms Delmaine Krombesen "Krimbeen”), Both the second and third

contacts had e-mail contact addresses at "@gsk.com”,

The Mission was provided with a cerlificats of change of name of Glayo
Wellcome, It states that Glaxe Wellcome South Africa {Propriciy)
| imited changed s name by special resolution to GlaxoSmithKline
South Afnca (Propriety) Limited. A stamp of the Registrar of
Companies appended o the cerificate was dated 18 February 2002
Glaxo Wellcome therefore changed its name shorily after it had

recaived the letter of credif retating fo the contract under investigation

The Cammission issued a summons to Glaxe Smith and Kline South
Africa (Piy) Lid, which was senved on 26 Apnl 2006 at 27 Sleane Street
{Dimension Data  Campus, Flushing Meadows). Bryanston,
Johannesburg. These details appeared an the records of the Registrar

of Companies.

I their initial dealings with the Commission, Glaxe Welilcomes was
legally represented by Mr George Poole of the firm Bell, Dewar.  Prior
io making contract with the Commission Wr Peole had been
summonsed to Estify before the Commission in relation to the activites
of Majali, Montega and Imvume™.  Following the institution of fhe

pending litigation and by agreement with the Cornmission, the Financial

At ane stage Mr Peole hed also bean the sllamey of Hemphll, Majall 2nd Monegs,
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[

o

7]

Manzager of Glaxo Wellcome to whom & summons was directec, did not

appear before the Commission ar produce documents,

Poole directed a letter to the Commission on behaif of
GlaxoSmithKline, the apparent successor in title to Glaxo Wellcome.

Poaole's instructions are apparent from the content of his letter: -

“Our cllent has received & sumimons fo produce by 15 May 2006
various books and documents to the Donen Commission of Inguiry,
Our client notes that tha documents fo be produced by it relale fo
confract number 802 557 relating fo the provision of medicine fo lrag
during the United Nations Oi-for-Food Programme.  Ouwr client folices
fhat the docomenis required relale to a payment of 3218,794 allegedly
paid to it an emount of 522 113 allegediy levied as after sales saivice
fees, and an arnount of $78, 836 allegedly paid. Qur client searched its
records and can find fo record of any such contract or payments either
made of received, and thercfare has no knowledge whatscever of his

matter™'.

n & September 2008, after it had become clear to the Commission
that the pending ligation would have to procesd and thal the
Commission could not simply exercise powers of compulsion without
the blessing of the court, the Chairperson directed a letter by telefax to
FPoole. His client's cooparation in obtaining the contact details of Visser

and a caertain Pradeep Shetty {"Shetty") was requested.

Epa Decumearnt Mo 10% in Addenours A,
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[18.]

[19.

[20.]

[21.]

On 12 September 2006, Mr Androw Leontsinis of Bell, Dewar and Hall
replied in writing. He slated that the Commission's request had been
conveyed to Glaxo Wellcome and that the atlorneys would revert as
=zoon as they had instructions from their client™,
The attorneys had not reverted by 30 Septamber 2008. Glaxo
Wellcome's ignorance of the contract under investigation is
curicus. The curosity arises from the apparent passing of the
gales baton from Glaxe Wellcome to GlaxoSmithKline after the
name change. The latier continued o sell the identical products
to the lragis that Glaxe Wellcome had sold pursuant to Corntract
Mo, 802557, Both did 2o via the Mission, which aven confused the
two., The name Glaxe Wellcome remained competent to eligit
paymant arizing from Contract Me. 802657 well after the change of

na .

The |IC documentation in the Commission's possession shows the

following.

On 7 June 2001, the OIP informed Ambassador Kumalo, &t the
Wissicn, that the shipment of goods to be supplied by Glaxe Welicome

had become eligible for payment'™.

Ses Documenl Mo 110 in Addendum 3 wiz. the Commission’'s ietier to Ball, Dawar
and Hall shomays.
Soe Cocument Na 191 in Aaddendurn 3wz, Repar concerning request 1o ship goods.

L i



[22.]

[23.]

[24.]

of
e

The goods supplicd consisiad of 130, 000 packs of angised 0.5mg
tablets (in packets of one hundieds), as well as 13, 000 packs of free
medicine samples and 200 tablets free of charge from each batch [for
analysis). The purchase price was Euro 271, 700. The purchaser was
the State Company for Marketing Drugs and Medical Appliances. The
date of submission was 24 May 2001, The Mission reference number

was 242/01/068. The contract was signed on 18 December 2000 by

Adnan. She alzo signed contracts with the Iragis for and on behall of
Glaxo Wellcome's sister companies abroad, but through Missions other

than South Africa's™"

The exporter is described in the contract as Glaxo Wellcome SA (Phy)
Ltd, PO Box 1388, Halhway House, 1685, South Afrnca.  The signature
of Adnan is accompanied by 2 stamp of Glaxo Wellcome, without any
reference to the exporter's further particulars. The post office box on
the stamp differs from that of the exporier. The telephone and telafax
numbers differ from those which appear on the matrix of the Mission.
The signed contract appears to have been teiefaxed by Glaxo

Wellcome Dubai to the Iragi Ministry on 23 May 2001,

A Glaxo Wellcome pro forma invoice™  apparently bearing the
signature of Visser, the authonsed signatory, was directed by the
exporter {address 44 Old Pretoria Road, Midrand, R5A), 1o the

consignee on 23 March 2001 The exporter's cusioms code was

45450, The buyers reference was 40/2000/1055. The contact person

Zae Documeant Bla, 172 ir Addendum 3,
See Documant Mo 173 in Addencum 3.
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[25]

[26.]

[27.

at -Glaxo Wellcome was Shetty, The consignee waz Appliances

Marketing, Mansoor, Baghdad. The final destination was lrag. The

rission submitted this contract to the OIF an 24 May 20012

In the circumstances, the Commission sought to interview Visser

and Shetty.

The UN had approved a letter of credit, number CY32282  in favour of

Glaxo Wellcome S5A Ltd, Haltway House, South Africa. This letter of

credit was issued to the Standard Bank of Sowth Africa Limited,

Johanneshurg on 12 June 2001, in the amount of Euro 271, 700,

This letier of cradit in favour of the identically named benaficiary
was re-instated on 4 Septamber 2003 {some 17 months after Glaxo
Wellcome had changed itz name). The reinstatement had the
appreval of the UN Treasury for an amount of Eurg 27, 170; thatis
for 10% of the cantract price. The address of the beneficiary was

tha original exportar's address at Halfway Housze.

The accouniing history of the letler of credit that was aotained by the
T from the UN, shows that on 26 &pril 2002, some two maonths after

Glaxo Wellcome had changed its name, the sum of Eure 217, 218 was

paid inte the account of the beneficiary. Glaxo Wellcome. On 11 May

2002, the benaficiary was credited with Euro 24, 13511,

Sea Docament Mo, 14 in Addendom 3.
S et



20 ]

[31.]

Glaxo Wallcoma therefore continued to lenefit from the UN, in itz
own name {and agparently at itz criginal zddress), some 17
months after it changed its name and address. The ten per cent
payment to Glaxe Wsllcome during WMay 2002, requires

explanation.

It i= necas=ary to exercise the powers of the Commission fo
compal the cooperation of GlaxeSmithKline so as to achieve the
object of its terms of reference in so far as Glaxo Wellcome is

concerned.
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THE EFFECT OF THE PENDING LITIGATION

[1.1]

[3.]

The drafting of this report commenced on the basis thal the Pretora
High Court might considsr giving express authorisation to the
Commission to use its unchallenged powers, vested by Section 3 of the
Commissions Act (“statutory powers’), before 30 September 2008.
Following the week commencing 28 August 2008, the Commission
directed its attomey to brief Senicr Counsel ko faciitate an urgent
hearing at which such a preliminary ruling could be given. The
instructions had not been given effect to by 30 September 2006', The
cevelopments around the litigation and effects thereof up to 3 July
2006, were set out in the June Report ™. Further developments are set

out below.

I a letter directed to the Cormmission, on 3 August 2006, Hemphill's
attormeys made it clear that Hemphill would refuse to answer any
guestions put to him by the Commission, whather or not the answers
incriminated him. He also refused to provide the Commission with any
documentation. This conclusion g supported by the Commission's

affidavit and the correspondence annexed thereto'™.

Hemphill's recalcitrance went beyond any protection that could be

aflcrded to him by success in the pending litigation.  His atlitude

14=
144
145

See Documrent Ma 115 in &ddardum 3
See Parl F. pagas 45 1052 end paraganh [Z00 ], pege 171, of the June Repot.
Sep Mocument Ho 1 n &doendam 3



[5]

[6.]

materiaity inhitited the investigation of Al-Khafaji, Gmni, and Falcon
Furthemmore, Mocoh and Glaxo Waellcome appear tn have shellered
Eehind this litigation. Key witnesses and subjects of this investigation

have exploied the time constraints placed on the Commission.

The pending litigation has prevented the Commission from executing
its terms of reference by using statutony powers. As has been
demanstrated above, such an exercise s hacessary (0 order to reach
sustainable conclusions in respect of the alleged illicit activities of
Montegalmvume/Majal {and possibly Mocoh), as well as Glaxo

Wellcomes and Reyrolle.

Furthammore, the need to use allernative less incisive means of

investigation has prevented the Commission from completing is

investigafions within the permitted fime pariod.

To resolve the impasse. betwean 3 August 2008 and 18 August 2008,
the Cormmission drafled a comprehensive affidavit which was filed at
court an the last-mentioned date. For convenience the final paragraph

is repeated,

“THE APPROACH OF THE COMAMISEION IN SUMARY

120 I all the ciroumsiances.-



12007

120.2

T20.3

The Commisson ablaes the declaion of the honourabile court n
redafion to the menis of the revigw. The mait concery of the
Cormission Js fo cary out ifs ferns of reference lawiully and
axpeditionsly, N is a malter of less concemn fo the Commission
whether it should afford witnesses the prvilege referred ton
Section 3 of the Commiissions Act or whelher it should apply the
pravistons of Regulation 6. Mevertheless, in order 1o carry ouwl
s terms of reference lawfully and for fhe public pompose
envisaged, {t (s necessaty (o exercise the povers fo sEMmMons
and guestioh witnesses which arg vasted i a Commission by
sachion 3 of the Commissions Act, i.e. imespeciive of whether ar

mof the provisions of Regulstion 6 are fo be applied.

The Commission respecifully requests thal the review be
disposed of expediiously in order fo aliow # o camy ol ils
terms of reference, [t cannol oo so witnowt clanty as (o ils

powete fo quastion vinnssos,

Whather the first applicant has misled this Honourable Courl in
matenal sspects, fhas abused ils process, in order o avald
gssisling the Cormrmgsion (infer alia, by answering queslions
whiich do not inenminale fuimy, and whether he has deliberalely
subverfed the Commission, are mathers which the Commission
respacifully leavas in the hands of the honourahie courd, withowt

further commeni"



[7]

[8.]

i suppor of its reguest, the Commission was constrained to inform the
court of the Commission's view wiz, that the provisions of Besolutions
G661 and 986 have no legal effect on individual persons, legal or
natural, in South Africa’s domestic law.  Individuals, who associated
lhemselves with or made payments to Irag, confrary to these
resolutions, had not commilted offences in South Africa by doing so. It
follows, in so far as the Commission is concerned, that the issues
raised by Hemphill's claim are moot. There is no need for the
Commission to ask incriminating gquesfions in order to establish
whether or not illict payments were made, as alleged in the

Commission's terms of reference.

The interest of the Commission and the Executive in the pending
litigation, therefore differ. This was expressed in the following way in

the Commission’s affidavit;

27, In the wew of the Commission the material legal dispute in this
matler llies belween the first applicant and the execulive branch
af govermment wz. Ihe fourth and fifth respondonts, A primary
inferest of the Executive lies in the valdiy of Requistion 6. | am
led to pndersfand thal this regulaiion conteins a principle on
which the propar funclinning of many Commissions may rely.
The pomary interest of this Commission jies in implemanting
lawfhi! reguislions made by the Excculive, vihalever they may

be.  The question of reguiring incnminsling answars from e
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(5]

[10]

first applicant in relahon to this Commisslon’™s lerms of reference

iz goldressed helopM®,

28, Accordingly the Commission ahides fhe decision of his
honourable court in relation to the abovementioned relicf. The
Commussion has been indepsndently represented hy Semior
Counsel, on whose advice if relies. Howsver, by wriue of is
peculiar knowledge of the fscis and circumslances surmouwnding
the presen! application. the Commission has elecled fo place
cartain information  before this honowrabls court which i

membars hedaove may assist in defermining the application.”

It appears that, based on the advice of the Senior Counsel, the
Executive respondents were not as inclined to facilitate an urgent

hearng of the pending litigalion as the Commission was.

Wiimately, the Commission's lerms of reference weare not amended to
dispose of the challenge  Nor were the powers vested in Lhe
Comrmizsion to compel incriminating  answers from  withesses
vindicated by timely detence of Hemphill's challenge. The Cormmizsion
has not been afforded sufficient time fo achieve fis public purpose
through the vse of alternative, more time consuming and less effective

means thal remained availahie to iLwhile the litigation was pending.

Fhe s was ben addressad o the athicavit with relarenes b tha princisalz sat ot n
paragraph 7. abowve.
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From the documentation that has been made available 1o the Commission, i
has reached the conclusions below.  Firstly, the content of the relevant
documents are sei cul. Then, where necessary, the conclusions and their
degree of probability are stated | or convenience the relevant issues raised
by the terms of reference are ponted in Boid. The conclusions then appesar n

ordinary prini*”,

\Whether alleged surcharges on oil sales or illicit payments relating to
purchases of humanitarian goods or any other illicit payments in respect
of the Programme, or the offer to make such payments, referred 1o in the
HE Report and identified in the Annexure, wera in fact paid or offered to

be paid by the South African companies or individuals identified?

MONTEGA TRADING (PTY) LTD (“MONTEGA”)'™

1] @) On 21 December 2000, Montega, represented by an alleged
non-contractual beneficizry, Mr Sanai Majali™, concluded Oil
Contract Mumber MIDSOE, with the lrag Slate Ol Marketing
Organisation ("S50M0%  In terms thereof twe million bamsls
ware allocatad ta Maontega,

W I wider to facilitaie he reading of these conelusions as A separste document, the

abbreviations used in the previous parts of {nis repord. are repested.

See Juse Repod, pages B9 to 89, paragraphs [113.] 10 [1806.]. See too ihe G Ruoori
on Programme Manipulation: Chaptor Twee: Qil Transactions anc 10eil Favments 3
pages 104 i 238,

I %pa Tahle 3 sttached te the G Reporl ai page 30.
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b)

c)

d)

)

7l

g)

The approval of the contracl by the lragi Oil Mimster, on
January 2001, made it subject to the payment of a surcharge to

be paid during the month atter delivery.

The nurnbher of bamels loaded, for and on behalf of Montega,

was 1, 858, 530

The surcharge required by the il Minister was never paid.

On a date enknown. Mr Sandi Majal gave a written undertaking
to SOMO *to perfarm all my obligalion accordingly fo SOMOs
requiretments regarding the relurn money fie US § 0.30/B8L)
for LS destinafion or {US § 10.25BEL) for Far East destination

for the quanbty of 2.0 millicn Garrels™,

The underaking was signed in his capacity as a representative

of imvume Management (Pty) Lid (“irmvarme’).

The rates per barrel menticned are surcharge rates imposed

during tha majerity of the surcharge phases™

On & March 2002 Mr Majali made an offer to the lrag Qi
Minister o pay the aforementioned cutstanding surcharge in an

amount of US 5 464 000 in twe 2qual instalments of US § 232,

See 16 Repart on Programese Manipulaticn: Crapter I OIL TRANSACTIONS AN
ILLICIT BAYMENTS 51 page 111

L



2}

1)

I

00, "from the proceeds of the o iffings" that were negaotiated
in favour of Imvume, under Crude Gil Contract Number M7 2,

dated 27 March 2002 {*the Firsl Imeeme Contract™.

After 10 May 2002, on g date unknown and when dMr Majall's
undertaking had nol yel been fulfilled, he made a wiitten offar to
pay the first of the aforementioned surcharge instalments an 15
July 2002, He also offered to settle the outstanding balance by
16 August 2002 from the procecds of a proposed allocation ta

[rwiume af another o million barrels of oil.

The proceeds contemplated by Mr Majali's two olfers were, in all
likelihood, to have been derived from the resale of the il in
guestion to the Strategic Fuel Fund ("SFFY). in terms of bwo
supply contracts. These confracts weare concluded between
Imvume and the SFF on & March 2002 and during or about 21

May 2002, respectively

Mr Majali, representing Imvume, probably offered and atternpled to pay

the surcharges owed by Montega, in an amount of S 5 464, D00,

a)

IV URE MANAGEMENT (PTY) LTD (" IMVLAFE"}"™

On 27 March 2002, Imvume, represented by an alleged non

contraciual pensficiary™, My Sandi Majali'™ concluded  Oil

“h

[ hid
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b}

e

d}

&)

Contract Number MATT2 Cthe FAirst fmvome Conlfact’), with
SOMO. In terms thereaf, two million barreis of il were aliocated

o Irmvdime.,

On 27 July 2002, Imyvume, represented by Mr Majali, concluded
i Contract Number MM2ITE ("the Second fmvime Corlractl™),
with SOMO. In terms thereof, four million barrels were allocated

to Imvurme.

The approval of the First Imvume Contract by the lragi il
Minister was granted as a result of an agreement between Iragi
Vice President Taha Yassin Ramadan and Deputy Prime
Minigter Tarig Aziz, on 30 March 2002, This approval made the
First Imvume Contract subject to the payment of surcharges
within thirty days afler delivery, Delivery was required o (ake

place before 29 May 2002

On or about 10 May 2002 and al Baghdad, Mr Majali heid &
discussion with Mr Aziz and Mr Amer Rashid. the Iragi Minister
of Qil. Surcharges due to the Qil Ministry were discussed

particularly with reference to the First Imvume Contract.

After 10 May 2002, on a date unknown, Mr Majali, acting for and

on behalf of Imvume, made a written offer to pay the surcharges

123
184

Eee Tahle 3 gttached to the 1C Repon 2 page 50

M M Mandeis sigred the First Imeuma Soniract with the authariy of ke KMajali

- |50 -



i)

owed by Montega from the proceeds of the First lmvume

Contract on 15 July 2002 and 15 August 2002,

Cin 21 May 2002, Imvume directed a letter 1o the SFF confinming
that Imvume would supply the SFF with two million barrels of
Basrah Light Crude Qil. over and above the four million barrels
to be delivered to the SFF in terms of the supply contract

concluded an & March 2002,

The approval of the Second Imvume Contract was granted by
the Oil Minister, on 28 July 2002, This made the Second
imvume Contract subject to the payment of surcharges within
thirly days after delivery. Delivery was required to take place

before 25 Movember 2002,

It is probable in the circumstances which prevailed between & March

2002 and 28 July 2002 that an advance surcharge payment of US §

60, 000 would have had to be made on the First Imvume Contract

before the Gil Minister would have seen fit o approve the Second

Imywume Contract.

It i not improhable thal an advance surcharge payment amounting to

LS § 60, 000 was deposited at the Central Bank of Irag for and on

behalf of Imvume, in connection with the First Imvume Contract™™ on

Seg Juna Report, peraarapn [116.] al pages 70 toc 71 and paragrachs [120.) e [726.)

at panes Y2 0 T8,
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20 duly 2002, i.e. a few days before the Secona Imvume Contract was

concluded and aporoved,

MOCOH SERVICES (PTY) LTD {(“MOCONH")'*

1] Mr Michael Hacking is a directer of Mocoh, The company is registered

in South Africa. Mr Hacking is not a South African national.

) =) Cn 28 June 2000, Mocoh, represented by Ni Hacking.
concluded Oil Contract Number M/DB/SE (“the First Mocoh
Contract") with S0OMO.  In terms thereot one million barrels were

allocated to Mocoh.

b On 30 January 2001, Mocch, represented by Mr Hacking,
concluded Ol Contract Number WOSE0 "the Second Mocoti
Contract ) with SOMOQ,  In terrme therect two million barrels were

allocated 1o Mocaoh,

c} Mr Hacking was the non-contractual beneficiary of the First

Mocoh Contract and the Second Maocoh Contract.

i) The approval of the Second Mocoh Contract by the Oil Minister,
an B February 2007, made the Second Mocoh Contract subject
tn the payment of a recovery amount.  This was payabla within

30 days after shipment loading.

See Par O of this r2par at page 48,
- 141 -



3

43

el On 18 Apnl 2001, & total of 1, 317 957 barrels of ol wore lifted
in two separate loadings oursuant to the Second Mocob

Contract.

Iwo surcharge payments hat arcse from lragi levies on the Second
Mocoh Contract were paid for and on behalf of Mocch in Swiss Francs

at Jordan Mationa! Bank.

The tirst payment wwas made by Mr Hacking (or with his authonty), on

15 Apnl 2001, This amount was CHEF 424 595

Ine second payment was made by order of Mr Hacking on 15 July

2001, This amount was CHF 550, 630,

ONMEOIL {" 0N '™

3)

128

i 15 not registered as a2 company in Soulth Alrics.

Mr Shakir Al-Khafaji was lhe nor-contractual beneficiary of the oil

contracts concluded betweean Omni and SOMO.

Mr Al-Khafaji is an lragi national. He s resident in the Uniled States.

Sew the June Repod, paragrephs [96 | 10 [112.], al pages 62 (069,
- 14% -
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a)

1=

al

b

c)

o)

e}

Cn 22 July 2001, Omni concluded Of  Contract  Murmber
MTDI24, with SOMO. In ferms thereof hvo million bamels were
aliccated to Omni.  In concluding this contract, Omni was
represented by Mr Rodney S Hemphill, whe purporied to be its

manadging direclor.

On 28 July 2001, the approval of this contract by the Qi
Minister, based on an allocation list, dated & July 2001, was

requested by the Genera! Manager of SOMO™.

The reguest for approval contained the terms of the contract that
had been concluded between SOMO and Omni. The request

stated thatl Mr Al-Khafaji had signed the contract.

The contract made provision for a recovery amount made up of
Us § 80. D00, being an advance payment already made, and a
balance (30% of the recovery ameount) which had o be paid

within 30 days after shipment loading.

Approval of the request was granted accordingly.

In the circumstances it is likehy that Omni, represented by Mr Al-Khaiaji,

made an advance surcharge payment of US § 60, 000, and that this

amount was deposited at Jordan Mational Bank on 17 July 2001, as the

G alleged.

Sae Document Mo, 116 i Addencu 3.

L Y-



&)

il

It is not unlikely that Omni. represented by Mr Al-Khafaji, would have
paid the outstanding surcharge balance reguired by the Iragis on the
2, 070, 270 barrels of oil that were lifted, vz US § 840 000 on 5
September 2001 and Us 3 21, 000 on 24 Janwary 2001, at Jordan

MNational Bank, as the |IC alleged.

Without compelling the oral testimeny of Mr Hermphill, the Commission
cannot come to a firmer conclusion about the activities of Omni and Rr

Al-Khafaji'™.

APE PUMPS (PTY) LTD {(“APE PUMPS")"™

1)

&) In relation to Contract Mumber B30775 {"fhe Firsf Ape Pumps
Contract’}, illicit after-sales-service fees (CASSF") amounting fo
CHF 150, 760 were levied by the Oil Pipelines Cormpany, a state

institution which fell under the control of the lrag Ministry of Oil,

b] On 25 July 2002, Ape Pumps paid AS5F in the amount of Euro

67, 88420, o the Gl Pipelines Company.

120

M Herobll bae, in Lhe views of Lhe Gommission, misrepresertad facts: 1o tha South
Afficar Permarant Mission o the UM, to the Office for Irsg Prearamme 2nd Lo he
Pratesia High Courl 1L is likely thal ba nade similar —isrepreseriastiors in statemrants
in the 1T and the Federal Prosecutors for the Scathern Datricl of MNew Yark, The
Commigsian will thereforg oo urable [ olace ary weight on a statement made by Wr
Hemprill in relation to the Prograrime unlese it is made orally under azty and is
sUbject o cross-axarminalan,

Sea Fart F of this report, paricularly paragraphs 18] and [25)]
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2]

a)

b}

In ralation to Contract Mumber 1020506 {“the Second Ans
Purns Condract”), ASSF amounting to Euro 2, 123, were levied
by the Morthern Gas Industry ["WGE), a state institution which

fell under the conlrol of the Iragi Ministry of Qil.

On 8 January 2003, Ape Pumps paid ASSE in the amount of

Eura 3, 123, to NG

FALCON TRADING GROUP LIMITED (“FALCON"'™

1]

2)

R

Falcon is not registered as a company in South Africa,

a)

B}

AL the malerial times, this entity was represented in South Africa
by Br Hemphill, 2 South African national. Elsewhere it was

represented by br Al-Khataji andior Mr Hemphill.

On 2 Novernber 2003, Mr Hemphill, purporting to be a director aof
the “Falcon Trading Growp®, signed an amendment to Contract
Number 11-0-388"". The purpose of this amendment was to
reduce. by Euro 21, 780, the original contract price of air
conditioning materials that had been sold to the Iragi Mmnistry of
Trade, State Gompany for Shopping Centres.  The original
contract had been concluded, on 16 June 2002, Mr Al-Ehafaji

had signad this contract on behalf of the sellar.

Sze tha June Repoll, paragiaphs (50 w [37] &t pages 64 10 52 and in paricular
paragreph [87.] st page &7
See Docurnent Mo, 8 in Addendam 1
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] The sum of Euro 27, 720 represented the vaive of ASSF that tha
Falcon Traging Group had agreed o pay to the govermment of

Irag in terrns of the criginal contract

Therefore, in terms of Contract Number 11-0-896, Mr Al-Khata)i.
representing an entity known as lthe Falcon Trading Group, offered (o

pay ASSE amounting o Euro 21, 780

Falcon, represented by NMr Al-Khafaji, offered to make the following
payrnents of ASSF and/or inland transpaortation fees {17} in regard to
purchases made by lhe Iragi State Trading Company for Construction

hMaterials: -

al  Ten per cent of the contract prica (CIF) of Iragi Contract Number
10-H-23, dated 18 Cctober 2001, for the supply of twenty five
thousand M1 deformed bars as afler sales services 0 addition
to the payment of [TF o the Iragi State Company for Water
Transport {“the ISCWT"), These kickbacks were to be paid for

egch shipmeni before unloading the vessel

k] Ten per cent of the contract price of Iragi Cortract Number 071-
H-024, dated 15 Ssptember 2002, for the supply of thres

thousand tons of IPE steel joists as after sales servics,

) len per cent of the confrac! price of & contract, daled 15

September 2002 {with an undecipheraole number), for the

B



supply of “7, 000 fops round (o) plain Dars” as aftor sales

BEMVICE,

d) Ten per cent of the contract price of lragi Contract Number
12-C0-00211, dated 30 January 2003, for the supply of *5 000
CEM whife wood' as after sales service: in addition to the

payment of ITF to the [SCWT.

E) Ten per cent of the contract price of Iragi Contract Mumber 12-
CO-00210, dated 1 February 2003, for the supply of "3, 000

cubic feet vang wood', as after sales service, as well as [TF.

4 Without compelling the oral testimony of Mr Hemphill, the Commission

can eome to no further conclusions about the aclivities of Falcon,

GLAXO WELLCOME SA (SOUTH AFRICA] (PTY] LTD {"GLAXO

WELLCOME")™

Without exercising the ooetcive statutory powers vested by section 2 of the
Commissions Act, the Commission was unable to make any factusl finding
about the contract concluded by Glaxe Wellcome during Phase 8 of the

Programme.

Ses Parl H of thiz repor



REYROLLE LUSITED (“REYROLLE™

Considerable suspicion exisls that Reyrolle paid ASSF to the Iragi Ministry of
Heazlth via an agent in lrag. pursuant to Contract Numbper 800993, Without
the exercize of the aforementioned powers, the Comimission remains unable

to reach any sustainable cenciusion in relation to this contract.

Whether the illicit eondust found to have been parpsirated by Wir Majsll
{acting personally andfer an behalf of Montege and Imvume), Wir Hacking
(acting perzonally andior on behalf of Mocch), BMir Al-Khafgji (acting
personzlly andlor representing the entities known az Omnl Ol and
Falcon Trading Group Limited), and the lliclt conduct admitied by Aps
Purmnps, fall within the jurisdiction of any South Afrlsen court of lew or
amount to the commission of cffences, which may be trled in =uch

cout?

1} The only illict conduct shown fo have been perpetrated within the
teritorial jurisdiction of & South Afncan cour was the payment of
ASSF, for and on behalf of Ape Pumps', by Standard Bank of South

Africa Limited. The criminal jurisdiction of such a court does not exist

163
1H:

Ben Farl 3ol this repar,

The first amaunt w85 Euro 67, 834 20, which was paid 1o K- Fres (brehim O
YYasin, & the Areb Bank on 25 Guly 2007 The sacend amount was Eoro 3 123.00
which was paid rn Morh Gas Incustres, Rafadian Bank o 8 Jancary 20035
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ayer 1his contract. Nor could it Fave exisied over any other hci

conduct shown o have been perpetrated above.

The payments in question, as well 2s the offers 10 make paymeants. did
not per se constitute offences which may be iried by a South African
cour of law. The basis for this conclusion was set out in the June

REFI'U'I"'.-HF'. i

The Charter of the United Mations {"the Charfar”} hound South Africa
when the Constitution took effect™.  Howaver, the Charter does not
create obligations for individual South Africans or persons within the
territory of South Africa. The Charied coutd only become law ywithin
South Africa after its enactment into domestic taw by naticnal
legistation™.  No legistation currertly exists in South Africa thal
incorporates Security Council restiutions, made under Chapter VI of

the Charter, into domestic [aw,

The prohibitions ana resiraints contained in Resolution 681 and 966
have no criminal legal effect on individual persons, legal or natural, in
anulh African domestic law, By virue of the principle that a crime
cannot be committed uniess It already exists in law'™, individuals who
ansociated thermselves with or made payments to lrag, contrary to the
provisions of Resolutions 661 and 9586 oid not commil offences in

South Africa by domg sa.  MNor does the proven of admitied illicit

See paragraph [48 ] & pange 38 of the Juns Fepol.
See saction 2249018 of the Constituticn.

Sea secion 23104] of the Constiuton

The ralivee cnmen e sge princiol
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licit or irreqular international activities, including sanction

pusting in respect of intfernationzlly imposed sanctions:

1)

-
I7E

The proposals set out in Part E of the June Repart™ are endorzed with

the qualifications and additions referred to in Part C abhoye'™,

In dealing with Securly Council resclutions such as Resolution 661
("sanchions  proped”) that impose ecohomic sanctions, national
legislation should be enacted to incorporate the provisions of Chapter
VI of the Charer into domestic law to such an extent az may bo
necessary to create liability for the individual, Such legislation should
prohiiit South African nationals, both within South Afiica and abroad,
as well as any person within the teritory of South Africa. from
committing any "listed activity™ in violation of the provisions of Security
Council resclutions passed under Chapter VI, after such aclivity has
been listed by the National Executive in the Gazefte. In the same
legislation, criminal =anctions for persons (legal or natural] who commit

a listed activity should be enacted.

The Mational Executive should, within the parameters of the
Constitution, impose a ccherent, transparant regulatory regime that
aitempts to achieve the objects of sanctions proper and also reguiates
humanitarian and economic activity which may be authorised by the

Security Council.

SeE parzgraph [G0L] at pages 47 o 44 af the June Report,
See Par G a2l pagas 31 e 49 of this rapart.
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In craer to prevent monetany payments to states under economic
sanction, provision should be made to put exchange control regulations
into placa, spontanecusly and in line with Chapter VIl resolutions, as

5000 as such resolutions are passed in the future,

In addition to exchange control regulation, banking legislation andior
regulation should prohibit the provision of guarantees as well as the

making of dirsct payments to governments under sanction.

Frovision should also be made for spontansous control of the impont
into South Africa of goods affected by sanctions andfor the
transhipmernt thereof via the territory of South Africa, o through the Lse

of South African flag vessels,

Curing the operation of economic sanchions, contractors with the state
or with state institutions should be required to disclose whether any
cammodity or goods, inlended to be supplied o the state or a state

institition, emanate from a country under sanction.

In dealing with Securty Council resalutions such as Resolulion 986,
that parially lit andfor ameliorate economic sanctions, a legislative
prohibition should be created, that prohibits South Afcan companies
and ndividugls, and any person within South Africa who may become
invalved in UN sanctions proegrammes, from executing contracts
without & licence. Such licensing should ke introduced and

administrated by the [reasury, the UDepartment of Forgign Affairs

I i 1



10}

11)

12)

andior the Stete departments which are relevant to the pardicular

activiiy.

The departmenl licencing participation in a8 UM Programme should
require an undertaking thal no bribes have been paid or stand to be

paid to the regime by the contractor.

Banks should be required io ensure that intemalicnal paymens fo
agents and/or foreign institutions, in respect of transactions affected by

such programmes, are authorised by Security Council resalution.

To this end, the Reserve Bank., should be required to cerfify
international payments lo agents with reference to authentic written
agency agreemants that expressly provide for the payment of
commigsions, as wall as legitimate formulag for calculation of amounts
payabie.  Any agreement which permits an ageat to receive an
indeterminate or excessive commission for facilitating the invelvement
af a South African cantractor in a N sanctione programme should be

deemed o invalve an illicit payment.

During the existence of ameliorated economic sanctions such as
Resolution 8956 contractors with the state should be required to
warrant that they have complied with all relevant Securty Council
resolutions, UN agresmentz and memoranda of understanding that

may he applicable to the transactions in question

i
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13)  Directives shovld be issued to the various Missions which fall under the
Deparment of Foreign Affairs, o the effect that UN regulated
exemptions from the impostion of economic sanctions under Chapte:
Wl that are processed via a Mission, should be tharaughly scrutinised:

and refused whanever the participants are not South African natiohals,

14)  An amendment should be effected to the Prevention and Corbating of
Corrupt Activities Act, 2004 {&ct Mo, 12 of 2004}, =0 as o make
provision for conviction of an individual on a charge of cormuption undar
the Acl in cases where a sovereign state is found o be a beneficiary of

corruption in lthe application of sections St 6, 12 and 13,

It is respectfully suggested that the adverse findings made against cerain
subjects of the Commission's enquiry in this report and the June Report,

should be presented o the subjects in gquestion for their comment before the

findings are made public.

Finally, Because of the inhibitory effect which the pending ltigation has had on
the execution of the Commission's temms of reference. the Commission
respectiully requests thal its terms of reference be extended so gs to facilitate

a final report based on a full and proper exercise of ite powers of investigation:
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1) Firstly, by extending the period for a final reporl o & date twelve

weeks'" after notice thereof has been given to the Commission.

24 Secondly, by authorising the Commission to exercise the powers as o
witnegees which are vested by section 3 of the Commissicns Act, ie. to
issue summonses for the attendance of withess, for the production of

any document and for the giving of oral evidence under oath.

-

-

F":\ i

Michael Donen, 5C ', Adv AndréW|Chauke  Snr Supt Lucy Moleko
(Chalrperson) *._{Member} {Member}
e

iy S

Thez pesiod will @llow the Coremission fo interdew materis! wimnasses sock a8 Mission
officials and others idertifies abave, will zlsa zllow the Commission to ontain the
assistance of Mr Foalema Motlkathe, Messrs Uptan, Griffiths and Pritchard
(ragarding Reyrclle), ard to camy cul s wwestcaton of Glaxo  Welicome
Diecumentaticn which has been wilbhsld fam the Commission oould glsa 1o be
abtained by the issus of sumrarses. Finally the grounds for reacking conclusions in
the repors aof the Sommiesion badl difer from the canclusicns af the 10 would be
delarminga in consultalion witn Mr Briar Mich, counzel far the 1S,
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[65.]

[66.]

[67.]

In late 2002, Sexwale travelled to Baghdad, after he became aware
that SOMO had officially ceased to demand payment of surcharges.
The purpose of this visit was to lobby for an allocation. He was
requested to make "cartain paymenis’. He was not prepared to do so,

For this reason, Mocoh did not lift the barrels allocated in Phase 13.

Finally, Sexwale denies that he was “a parly fo any surcharges”. He
discussed the matter with Hacking after he was notified that the T
was to be establishad by the UN, and again following the publication of
the IC Report. Hacking confirmed to Sexwale that neither he nor
Mocoh had made any illicit payments to SOMO. Sexwale concludes by

saying that if such payments were.in fact made, they were effectad

without his consent.

The facts and circumstances, as they currently exist, establish on
the probabilities that oil surcharges were levied on Mocoh in
respect of two oil lifis. The surcharges were paid, with Hacking's
authority, In relation to the Second Mocoh Contract: le. in two

separate amounts of Swiss Francs viz. CHF 424, 995, and CHF
555, 630.

DOCUMENTATION FURNISHED BY THE lIC

[65.]

Documentation furnished to the Commission by the |IC relates to

contracts concluded during Phases 510 9.
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[5.]

[6.]

(7.1

could not be examined because of time constraints. Holden has no

personal knowledge of the three transactions or the documentation,

Through Holden the Commission traced Michael Robert Upton

{“Upton™, the former Divigional Managing Director of Reyrolle, and Mr

W.J Pritchard (“Pritchard"), the former General Manager Business

Feyrolle.  Again Holden provided contact details. Comprehensive

interviews with those involved in the contract of Reyrolle under

investigation could not be camied out before 30 September 20086,

Via Mission records the Commission was able to trace and contact Mr
Ricky Griffiths ["Gnffiths™, the Export Development Manager of
Reyrolle. The Chairparson interviewed Griffiths on two occasions. The
latter stated that he was responsible for the presentation of tenders by
Raeyrolle wa the Mission, He also prepared documents for submission

to the escrow bank through the UN. As will appear below some of

his statements wara factually incarrect.

Griffiths informed the Chairperson that the shares in Reyrolle were
previously held by NE|. Reyrolle operated from a site at the corner of
Barbara and Morth Feef Roads, Elandsfontein, South Africa. The
shares in NE| were purchased by ABB and a company known io
Griffiths as Alston. Reyrolla then hecame subsumed as a division of

ABB. known as Power Technology Medium Voltage ("PTMV). ABB

continue to operate from the Elandsfontein premises.
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conduct above attract criminal liability under international law to the

individual perpetrators,

MNevertheless, misrepresentations by South African contractors to the
South African Permanent Mission to the United Mations {"the Wission”)
may have constituted fraud upon the Republic:  that is, i the
contractors in question applied for UN approval of their contracts with
the intention of paying surcharges or kickbacks, while representing that
they intended to comply with the provisions of Resclutions 661 and 986
and the Memorandum of Understanding between Irag and the United

Mations ("the MOLM).

Whather admissible evidence exists to provide a reasonable prospect of

successful prosecution of fraud?

In each case, the intention to make the illicit payment, as well as knowledge of

the patential prejudice to the Republic that would result from illicit payment

would have to be proved by the State. Such evidence as may exist has been

referred to above and in the June Report.

Proposed actions or steps to be taken to prevent companies or persons

falling under South African jurisdiction from becoming Invalved in future
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